THE MINISTRY OF HIGHER EDUCATION AND SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH UNIVERSITY OF MOSTAGANEM ABDELHAMID BEN BADIS FACULTY OF EXACT SCIENCES AND COMPUTER SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE MAJOR: MATHEMATICS



MASTER THESIS

### For the Obtaining of the Master's Degree in Sciences issued by

### University of Mostaganem

**Option: Functional Analysis** 

presented by :

### Fatiha Mekia BENGUETTAT

# Some results on the growth and oscillation of solutions of differential equations with meromorphic function coefficients of $[p, q] - \phi$ order

Dissertation committee

President:	Dr .Kheira LIMAM	Associate professor at Mostaganem University
Examiner: Co-supervisor:	Dr. Amina FERRAOUN Dr. Benharrat BELAÏDI	Associate professor at Mostaganem University Professor at Mostaganem University
Supervisor:	Dr. Mansouria SAIDANI	Associate professor at Mostaganem University

M A S T E R

Academic Year : 2022 / 2023

## Acknowledgements

All thanks and gratefulness are due to Allah, the lord of the worlds, he who bestowed me with patience, strength, knowledge, and for all his endless blessings.

I would like to express my special and profound thanks to my parents, I wouldn't be able to get to this point without your prayers. Let this work be dedicated to you.

It has been a pleasure to work under the supervision of Dr. Mansouria SAIDANI, thank you for your availability, patience, and for helping me to realize this work. And of Pr. Benharrat BELAÏDI, thank you for your guidance, your precious advises and professional suggestions.

I address my thanks also to Dr. Kheira LIMAM and Dr. Amina FERRAOUN who accepted participating in my master's degree committee, and for examining and evaluating this document.

I would also like to thank the educational team who contributed to the success of my work, and my friend for her support and encouragement during these five years.

# Contents

In	trod	uction	1			
1	Nevanlinna theory					
	1	Poisson-Jensen and Jensen formula	3			
	2	Nevanlinna characteristic function	4			
	3	The first main theorem	8			
	4	The growth of an entire or meromorphic function	11			
5 The [p,q]-order, Lower [p,q]-order and [p,q]-convergence exponent of an						
		entire or meromorphic function	13			
	6	Results from function theory	16			
	7	Some elements of Wiman-Valiron theory	16			
	8	Measure and density of sets	17			
2	Auxiliary lemmas					
3	Or	On the growth of solutions of LDE with meromorphic coefficients with finite				
$[p,q] - \varphi$ order						
	1	Introduction	33			
	2	Main results	34			
	3	Proofs of the main results	35			
Co	Conclusion					
Bi	Bibliographie					

## Introduction

Nevanlinna theory is a branch of complex analysis that deals with the study of meromorphic functions. It was introduced by a Finnish mathematician Rolf Nevanlinna in the early 20th century [21].

This theory has applications in many areas of mathematics, including algebraic geometry, number theory, and differential equations.

The main focus of Nevanlinna theory is on the distribution of values of meromorphic functions.

It provides a way to measure their growth, using the Nevanlinna characteristic function. And that's the reason why, this theory has became an important tool in the study of differential equations.

Wittich was the first one who made a systematic study in the application of Nevanlinna theory into complex differential equations in [26]. Since that, many problems has been studied and solved by several mathematicians.

Several researchers have studied the properties of solutions of linear differential equations of the second order or of higher order with entire or meromorphic functions by giving information on the hyper order, iterated order and the [p,q]-order of the solutions of these equations (see [2], [15], [16], [18], [22]....etc).

In recent years, some scientists have been interested in determining the properties of the solution of equations whose coefficients are entire or meromorphic functions in the complex plane (see [5], [20], [24]...etc )

As far as we know, in [6] Chyzhykov, Heittokangas and Rättyä introduced the concept of order  $\phi$ -order in order to study the growth of solutions of linear differential equations in the complex plane.

Inspired by these works, in this thesis, we have studied some properties of solutions to certain differential equations of complex variable function coefficients.

This work is composed of an introduction, and three chapters.

In the first chapter, we introduce the elementary definitions of the Nevanlinna theory, and some other notations that we will need in the next chapters.

In order to demonstrate the results mentioned in the third chapter, besides some proved

lemmas, we needed to demonstrate some auxiliary lemmas, that are mentioned in the second chapter.

The last chapter is devoted to the results obtained in the article [23], where we have studied the growth and oscillation of solutions to the homogeneous differential equation

$$A_{k}(z) f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z) f' + A_{0}(z) f = 0,$$
(1)

where  $A_j(z)$   $(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$  with  $A_k(z) \neq 0$  are meromorphic functions with finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order.

Under some conditions, we have proved that every non-transcendental meromorphic solution  $f \neq 0$  of (1) is a polynomial with  $deg f \leq s - 1$  and every transcendental meromorphic solution f of (1) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \min\left\{\sigma,\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)\right\}$  satisfies

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = +\infty, \sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s,\varphi).$$

As a result, under the same hypothesis we have obtained that if  $\psi$  is a transcendental meromorphic function that satisfies a certain condition then, every transcendental meromorphic solution f of equation (1) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$  satisfies

$$\sigma \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi)$$
$$= \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_s, \varphi).$$

In the second part of this chapter, we have studied the growth of solutions to the nonhomogeneous differential equation

$$A_{k}(z) f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z) f' + A_{0}(z) f = F(z),$$
(2)

where  $A_j(z)$   $(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$  with  $F(z) \neq 0$  are meromorphic functions with finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order.

Under some conditions, we have obtained that every non-transcendental meromorphic solution  $f \neq 0$  of (2) is a polynomial with deg  $f \leq s - 1$  and every transcendental meromorphic solution f of (2) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \min\left\{\sigma,\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)\right\}$  satisfies

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = +\infty$$

and

$$\sigma \leq \overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \varphi).$$

As a result, under the same hypothesis we have obtained that if  $\psi$  is a transcendental meromorphic function that satisfies a certain condition then, every transcendental meromorphic solution f of equation (2) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$  satisfies

$$\begin{split} \sigma &\leq \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f-\psi,\phi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f-\psi,\phi) \\ &= \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f-\psi,\phi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{s},\phi). \end{split}$$

These results can be considered as a generalization of some previous results.

We conclude this work with a conclusion and some perspectives.

## **Chapter 1**

## Nevanlinna theory

In this chapter we introduce some necessary and elementary definitions, notations and results that we will need later in the next two chapters.

### 1 Poisson-Jensen and Jensen formula

**Theorem 1.1** (*Poisson-Jensen formula* [7], [9]) Let f be a meromorphic function such that  $f(0) \neq 0, \infty$  and let  $a_1, a_2, ... (resp. b_1, b_2, ...)$  denote its zeros (resp. poles), each taken into account according to its multiplicity. If  $z = re^{i\theta}$  and  $0 \leq r < R < \infty$ , then

$$\log|f(z)| = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \log|f(\mathbf{R}e^{i\phi})| \frac{\mathbf{R}^{2} - r^{2}}{\mathbf{R}^{2} - 2r\cos(\theta - \phi) + r^{2}} d\phi + \sum_{|a_{j}| < \mathbf{R}} \log\left|\frac{\mathbf{R}(z - a_{j})}{\mathbf{R}^{2} - \overline{a_{j}}z}\right| - \sum_{|b_{k}| < \mathbf{R}} \log\left|\frac{\mathbf{R}(z - b_{k})}{\mathbf{R}^{2} - \overline{b_{k}}z}\right|.$$
(1.1)

**Theorem 1.2** (Jensen formula [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function such that  $f(0) \neq 0, \infty$ and let  $a_1, a_2, \dots$  (resp.  $b_1, b_2, \dots$ ) denote its zeros (resp. poles), each taken into account acording to its multiplicity. Then, we have

$$\log|f(0)| = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log\left|f(re^{i\phi})\right| d\phi + \sum_{|b_j| < r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|b_j|}\right) - \sum_{|a_j| < r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|a_j|}\right)$$
(1.2)

**Proof.** Proving formula (1.2) when *f* has no zeros or poles on |z| = r. Let

$$g(z) \coloneqq f(z) \prod_{|a_j| < r} \left( \frac{r^2 - \overline{a_j} z}{r(z - a_j)} \right) \prod_{|b_k| < r} \left( \frac{r^2 - \overline{b_k} z}{r(z - b_k)} \right)^{-1}, \tag{1.3}$$

then  $g \neq 0, \infty$  in |z| < r and  $\log |g(z)|$  is a harmonic function. By the mean property of classical harmonic functions, we have

$$\log|g(0)| = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log \left| g(re^{i\phi}) \right| d\phi.$$
(1.4)

Since

$$|g(0)| = |f(0)| \prod_{|a_j| < r} \left(\frac{r}{|a_j|}\right) \prod_{|b_k| < r} \left(\frac{r}{|b_k|}\right)^{-1},$$
(1.5)

we obtain

$$\log|g(0)| = \log|f(0)| + \sum_{|a_j| < r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|a_j|}\right) - \sum_{|b_k| < r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|b_k|}\right).$$
(1.6)

For  $z = re^{i\varphi}$ , we have

$$\left|\frac{r^2 - \overline{a_j}z}{r(z - a_j)}\right| = \left|\frac{r^2 - \overline{b_k}z}{r(z - b_k)}\right| = 1$$

for all  $a_i$ ,  $b_k$ . Then

$$\log \left| g(re^{i\varphi}) \right| = \log \left| f(re^{i\varphi}) \right|. \tag{1.7}$$

Substituting (1.6) and (1.7) in (1.4), we obtain

$$\log|f(0)| + \sum_{|a_j| < r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|a_j|}\right) - \sum_{|b_k| < r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|b_k|}\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log\left|f(re^{i\varphi})\right| d\varphi,$$

hence, the formula of Jensen.

### 2 Nevanlinna characteristic function

**Definition 1.1** (Integrated counting function [17])  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  is given. Let f be a meromorphic function such that  $f \neq a$ .

Then n(r, a, f) denotes the number of roots of the equation f(z) - a = 0 in the disc  $\{z : |z| \le r\}$ , each root according to its multiplicity.

Similarly  $\overline{n}(r, a, f)$  counts the number of distinct roots of f(z) - a = 0 in the disc  $\{z : |z| \leq r\}$ . And  $n(r, \infty, f)$  denotes the number of poles of f in the disc  $\{z : |z| \leq r\}$ , each pole according to its multiplicity.

Similarly  $\overline{n}(r, \infty, f)$  counts the number of distinct poles of f in the disc  $\{z : |z| \leq r\}$ ,.

**Example 1.1** Let  $f(z) = \sin^2(z)$ , we have

$$n(r,0,f) = 2 + 4\left[\frac{r}{\pi}\right]$$
 and  $\overline{n}(r,0,f) = 1 + 2\left[\frac{r}{\pi}\right]$ .

**Example 1.2** Let  $f(z) = \frac{\tan(z)}{z^4}$ , we have

$$n(r,\infty, f) = 4$$
 and  $\overline{n}(r,\infty, f) = 1$ .

**Definition 1.2** (*Counting function* [9]) *Let* f *be a meromorphic function. For*  $a \in \mathbb{C}$ *, we define the a-point function of* f *by* 

$$N(r, a, f) = N\left(r, \frac{1}{f-a}\right) := \int_0^r \frac{n(t, a, f) - n(0, a, f)}{t} dt + n(0, a, f) \log r, \quad f \neq a,$$

and

$$N(r,\infty,f) = N(r,f) := \int_0^r \frac{n(t,\infty,f) - n(0,\infty,f)}{t} dt + n(0,\infty,f) \log r.$$

Similarly, we define the a-point distinct function of f by

$$\overline{\mathrm{N}}(r,a,f) = \overline{\mathrm{N}}\left(r,\frac{1}{f-a}\right) := \int_0^r \frac{\overline{n}(t,a,f) - \overline{n}(0,a,f)}{t} dt + \overline{n}(0,a,f)\log r, \quad f \neq a,$$

and

$$\overline{\mathrm{N}}(r,\infty,f) = \overline{\mathrm{N}}(r,f) := \int_0^r \frac{\overline{n}(t,\infty,f) - \overline{n}(0,\infty,f)}{t} dt + \overline{n}(0,\infty,f) \log r.$$

**Example 1.3** Let  $f(z) = \frac{\exp(z)}{z^3}$ , we have

$$n(t,\infty,f) = n(0,\infty,f) = 3$$
 and  $\overline{n}(t,\infty,f) = \overline{n}(0,\infty,f) = 1$ ,

hence

$$N(r, f) = \int_0^r \frac{n(t, \infty, f) - n(0, \infty, f)}{t} dt + n(0, \infty, f) \log = 3\log r$$

and

$$\overline{\mathrm{N}}(r,f) = \int_0^r \frac{\overline{n}(t,\infty,f) - \overline{n}(0,\infty,f)}{t} dt + \overline{n}(0,\infty,f) \log r = \log r.$$

**Lemma 1.1** ([9], [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function with a-points  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_n$  in  $\{z : |z| \le r\}$  such that  $0 < |\alpha_1| \le |\alpha_2| \le ... \le |\alpha_n| \le r$ , and  $f(0) \ne 0$ , each counted according to its multiplicity. Then

$$\int_{0}^{r} \frac{n(t, a, f)}{t} dt = \int_{0}^{r} \frac{n(t, a, f) - n(0, a, f)}{t} dt$$
$$= \sum_{0 < |\alpha_{j}| \le r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|\alpha_{j}|}\right).$$
(1.8)

**Proof.** ([9], [17]) Denoting  $|\alpha_j| = r_j$  for j = 1, ..., n, we obtain

$$\sum_{0 < |\alpha_j| \le r} \log\left(\frac{r}{|\alpha_j|}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^n \log\left(\frac{r}{r_j}\right) = n \log r - \sum_{j=1}^n \log r_j$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^n j \left(\log r_{j+1} - \log r_j\right) + n \left(\log r - \log r_n\right)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{r_j}^{r_{j+1}} \frac{j}{t} dt + \int_{r_n}^r \frac{n}{t} dt$$
$$= \int_0^r \frac{n(t, a, f)}{t} dt.$$

**Proposition 1.1** ([9], [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function represented by its Laurent expansion in original point

$$f(z) = \sum_{j=m}^{+\infty} c_j z^j, \ c_m \neq 0, \ m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Then

$$\log|c_m| = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log\left|f(re^{i\varphi})\right| d\varphi + \mathcal{N}(r, f) - \mathcal{N}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right).$$

**Definition 1.3** [17] For any real number  $x \ge 0$ , we define

 $\log^+ x := \max(0, \log x).$ 

The following lemma contains some properties of  $\log^+ x$ .

**Lemma 1.2** [17] Let  $x, y, x_j, j = 1, ..., n$  strictly positive real numbers. Then we have

 $1. \quad \log x \le \log^+ x,$ 

- $2. \quad \log^+ x \le \log^+ y \quad (0 \le x \le y),$
- 3.  $\log x = \log^+ x \log^+ \frac{1}{x}$  (x > 0),
- 4.  $\left|\log x\right| = \log^+ x + \log^+ \frac{1}{x}$  (x > 0).
- 5.  $\log x \le \log^+ x \quad (x \ge 0),$

6. 
$$\log^+\left(\prod_{j=1}^n x_j\right) \le \sum_{j=1}^n \log^+ x_j,$$
  
7.  $\log^+\left(\sum_{j=1}^n x_j\right) \le \log n + \sum_{j=1}^n \log^+ x_j$ 

**Proof.** The properties 1, 2 are immediate consequences of the Definition 1.3 and the monotonicity of the logarithmic function.

Proving 3, 4, 5 et 6. For 3, we have ([1])

$$\log x^{+} - \log^{+} \frac{1}{x} = \max(\log x, 0) - \max\left(\log \frac{1}{x}, 0\right)$$
$$= \max(\log x, 0) - \max(-\log x, 0)$$
$$= \log x.$$

The property 4. is obtained as follows ([1])

$$\log x^{+} + \log^{+} \frac{1}{x} = \max(\log x, 0) + \max\left(\log \frac{1}{x}, 0\right)$$
$$= \max(\log x, 0) + \max(-\log x, 0)$$
$$= |\log x|.$$

For the property 5., if  $\prod_{j=1}^{n} x_j \leq 1$ , then the inequality is obvious. Suppose that  $\prod_{j=1}^{n} x_j > 1$ . Hence,

$$\log^{+}\left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} x_{j}\right) = \log\left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} x_{j}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log x_{j}$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log^{+} x_{j}, \text{ according to } 1.$$

Finally, we get the property 6. using properties 2 et 5. In fact

$$\log^{+}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{j}\right) \leqslant \log^{+}(n \max_{1 \leq j \leq n} x_{j})$$
$$\leqslant \log n + \log^{+}(\max_{1 \leq j \leq n} x_{j})$$
$$\leqslant \log n + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \log^{+} x_{j}.$$

**Lemma 1.3** [9] For all  $a \in \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$\log^{+}|a| = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \log \left| a - e^{i\theta} \right| d\theta.$$
 (1.9)

**Definition 1.4** (*Proximity function*)([9], [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function. For  $a \in \mathbb{C}$ , we define the proximity function of f by

$$m(r, a, f) = m\left(r, \frac{1}{f-a}\right) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \frac{1}{|f(re^{i\varphi}) - a|} d\varphi, \quad f \neq a,$$

and

$$m(r,\infty,f) = m(r,f) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \left| f\left(re^{i\varphi}\right) \right| d\varphi$$

**Example 1.4** Let  $f(z) = \frac{\exp(az)}{z^m}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{C}^*$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . We have

$$m(r,f) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \left| f\left(re^{i\phi}\right) \right| d\phi$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \left| \frac{\exp(|a|e^{i\arg a} re^{i\phi})}{(re^{i\phi})^m} \right| d\phi$$
  
$$= \frac{ar}{\pi} - \frac{m\log r}{2}.$$

**Definition 1.5** (*Characteristic function*)([17]) For a meromorphic function f, we define its characteristic function as

$$\Gamma(r, f) := m(r, f) + \mathcal{N}(r, f).$$

**Example 1.5** Let  $f(z) = \exp(az^n)$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{C}^*$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . We have

$$\begin{split} m(r,f) &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \left| f\left(re^{i\varphi}\right) \right| d\varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \left| \exp\left( |a|e^{i\arg a} \left(re^{i\varphi}\right)^n \right) \right| d\varphi \quad (a = |a|e^{i\arg a}, \ -\pi < \arg a \le \pi) \\ &= \frac{|a|r^n}{\pi}. \end{split}$$

Since f is an entire function, then

$$\mathrm{T}(r,f)=m(r,f)=\frac{|a|r^n}{\pi}.$$

**Example 1.6** Let  $f(z) = \frac{\exp(\pi z)}{z^m}$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . We have

$$n(t,\infty,f) = n(0,\infty,f) = m,$$

then

$$N(r, f) = m \log r.$$

According to Example 1.4 we have

$$m(r,f)=r-\frac{m\log r}{2}.$$

1

Hence

$$T(r,f) = \frac{m\log r}{2}$$

### 3 The first main theorem

**Theorem 1.3** (*First main theorem of Nevanlinna*) ([9], [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function with the Laurent expansion

$$f(z) = \sum_{j=m}^{+\infty} c_j z^j, \ c_m \neq 0, \ m \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad z \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Then, for all complex number a, we have

$$T\left(r,\frac{1}{f-a}\right) = T(r,f) - \log|c_m| + \varphi(r,a)$$
(1.10)

where

$$|\varphi(r,a)| \le \log^+ |a| + \log 2.$$

**Proof.** Assume first that a = 0. By Proposition 1.1 and Lemma 1.2(3), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \log |c_m| &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \left| f(re^{i\varphi}) \right| d\varphi - \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \frac{1}{|f(re^{i\varphi})|} d\varphi + N(r, f) - N\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) \\ &= m(r, f) - m\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + N(r, f) - N\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) \\ &= T(r, f) - T\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) \end{split}$$

hence

$$T\left(r,\frac{1}{f-a}\right) = T(r,f) - \log|c_m|$$
(1.11)

with  $\varphi(r, 0) \equiv 0$ . Suppose now, that  $a \neq 0$ . We define h(z) = f(z) - a, then

$$N\left(r,\frac{1}{h}\right) = N\left(r,\frac{1}{f-a}\right),$$
$$m\left(r,\frac{1}{h}\right) = m\left(r,\frac{1}{f-a}\right),$$
$$N(r,h) = N(r,f).$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \log^{+} |h| &= \log^{+} |f - a| \le \log^{+} |a| + \log 2, \\ \log^{+} |f| &= \log^{+} |f - a + a| = \log^{+} |h + a| \le \log^{+} |h| + \log^{+} |a| + \log 2, \end{split}$$

Integrating these inequalities we see that

$$m(r,h) \leq m(r,f) + \log^+ |a| + \log^2,$$
  
$$m(r,f) \leq m(r,h) + \log^+ |a| + \log^2.$$

we put

$$\varphi(r, a) := m(r, h) - m(r, f)$$

satisfies  $|\varphi(r, a)| \le \log^+ |a| + \log 2$ . By applying the formula (1.11) for *h*, we obtain

$$T\left(r, \frac{1}{f-a}\right) = T\left(r, \frac{1}{h}\right) = T(r, h) - \log|c_m|$$
  
=  $m(r, h) + N(r, h) - \log|c_m|$   
=  $\phi(r, a) + m(r, f) + N(r, f) - \log|c_m|$ 

hence, the result.  $\blacksquare$ 

**Theorem 1.4** (*Nevanlinna*)([17]) Let f be a meromorphic function not being identically equal to a constant. Then, for all  $a \in \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$T\left(r, \frac{1}{f-a}\right) = T(r, f) + O(1) \quad r \to +\infty.$$

The following diagram summarises the properties of the Novanlinna characteristic function

**Proposition 1.2** ([7], [9], [17]) Let  $f, f_1, f_2, ..., f_n$   $(n \ge 1)$  be meromorphic functions and a, b, c and d be complex constants such that  $ad - bc \ne 0$ . Then

$$1. \ \operatorname{T}\left(r, \sum_{k=1}^{n} f_{k}\right) \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \operatorname{T}(r, f_{k}) + \log n,$$

$$2. \ \operatorname{T}\left(r, \prod_{k=1}^{n} f_{k}\right) \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \operatorname{T}(r, f_{k}),$$

$$3. \ \operatorname{T}\left(r, f^{m}\right) = m\operatorname{T}(r, f) \quad \forall \ m \in \mathbb{N}^{*},$$

$$4. \ \operatorname{T}\left(\frac{af+b}{cf+d}\right) = \operatorname{T}(r, f) + \operatorname{O}(1) \quad as \ r \to +\infty \quad f \neq -\frac{d}{c}$$

#### Proof.

1. We have

$$T\left(r,\sum_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right) = m\left(r,\sum_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right) + N\left(r,\sum_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right)$$

and

$$\begin{split} m\left(r,\sum_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right) &= \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\log^{+}\left|\sum_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}(re^{i\theta})\right|d\theta\\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n}\log^{+}\left|f_{j}(re^{i\theta})\right| + \log n\right)d\theta\\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n}m(r,f_{j}) + \log n. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, since the the multiplicity of the pole of  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_j$  in  $z_0$  does not exceed the sum of the multiplicities of the poles of  $f_j$  (j = 1, ..., n) in  $z_0$ , then

$$\operatorname{N}\left(r,\sum_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right)\leqslant\sum_{j=1}^{n}\operatorname{N}(r,f_{j}).$$

Hence,

$$T\left(r, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j}\right) = m\left(r, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j}\right) + N\left(r, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j}\right)$$
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} T(r, f_{j}) + \log n .$$

2. We have

$$T\left(r,\prod_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right)=m\left(r,\prod_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right)+N\left(r,\prod_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right).$$

Since

$$\begin{split} m\left(r,\prod_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right) &= \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\log^{+}\left|\prod_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}(re^{i\theta})\right|d\theta\\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\log^{+}\left|f_{j}(re^{i\theta})\right|d\theta\\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n}m(r,f_{j}), \end{split}$$

and the fact that the multiplicity of the pole of  $\prod_{j=1}^{n} f_j$  in  $z_0$  does not exceed the sum of the multiplicities of the poles of  $f_j$  (j = 1, ..., n) in  $z_0$ , gives

$$N\left(r,\sum_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right) \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n}N(r,f_{j}).$$

As a consequence

$$\operatorname{T}\left(r,\prod_{j=1}^{n}f_{j}\right)\leqslant\sum_{j=1}^{n}\operatorname{T}(r,f_{j}).$$

3. We have  $|f| \leq 1$  is equivalent to  $|f|^n \leq 1$ . a) If  $|f| \leq 1$ , then

$$m(r, f^{n}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \log^{+} \left| f^{n}(re^{i\theta}) \right| d\theta = 0$$

and

$$N(r, f^n) = nN(r, f).$$

Hence

$$T(r, f^n) = nT(r, f).$$

*b*) If |f| > 1, then

$$m(r, f^n) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log^+ \left| f^n(re^{i\theta}) \right| d\theta$$
  
=  $nm(r, f)$ ,

and

$$N(r, f^n) = nN(r, f).$$

Therefore,

$$T(r, f^n) = nT(r, f).$$

4. Let  $g = \frac{af+b}{cf+d}$ , with  $ad - cb \neq 0$  then we have

$$gcf + gd = af + b \Leftrightarrow f = \frac{b - gd}{gc - a}.$$

Therefore, it is sufficient to show prove that  $T(r, g) \leq T(r, f) + O(1)$ . We distinguish two cases. Case 1. If c = 0, then

$$T(r,g) = T\left(r, \frac{af+b}{d}\right)$$
  
$$\leqslant T\left(r, \frac{a}{d}\right) + T(r, f) + T\left(r, \frac{b}{d}\right) + \log 2$$
  
$$= T(r, f) + O(1).$$

Case 2. If  $c \neq 0$ , then

$$T(r,g) = T\left(r, \frac{af+b}{cf+d}\right)$$

$$= T\left(r, \frac{a}{c}(cf+d) - \frac{ad}{c} + b}{cf+d}\right)$$

$$= T\left(r, \frac{a}{c} + \frac{cb-ad}{c^2} \cdot \frac{1}{f+\frac{d}{c}}\right)$$

$$\leqslant T\left(r, \frac{cb-ad}{c^2} \cdot \frac{1}{f+\frac{d}{c}}\right) + O(1)$$

$$\leqslant T\left(r, \frac{1}{f+\frac{d}{c}}\right) + O(1)$$

$$\leqslant T\left(r, f + \frac{d}{c}\right) + O(1)$$

$$\leqslant T(r, f) + O(1).$$

**Theorem 1.5** ([17]) A meromorphic function f is rational if and only if  $T(r, f) = O(\log r)$ .

### 4 The growth of an entire or meromorphic function

### 4.1 Order of growth

**Definition 1.6** ([9], [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function. The order of growth of f is defined by

$$\rho(f) \coloneqq \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log T(r, f)}{\log r}$$

and if f is an entire function, then

$$\rho(f) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log T(r, f)}{\log r} = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log \log M(r, f)}{\log r}.$$

**Proposition 1.3** ([7], [9], [17]) Let f, g be non-constant meromorphic functions. Then

- 1.  $\rho(f+g) \le \max\{\rho(f), \rho(g)\}.$
- 2.  $\rho(fg) \le \max\{\rho(f), \rho(g)\}.$
- 3. If  $\rho(g) \leq \rho(f)$  then  $\rho(f+g) = \rho(fg) = \rho(f)$ .

**Example 1.7** Let  $f(z) = \cosh(z)$ , we have

$$M(r, f) = \cosh r \sim \frac{e^r}{2}, \quad r \to \infty.$$

Hence

$$\rho(f) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log \log M(r, f)}{\log r} = 1$$

### 4.2 Hyper-order of function

**Definition 1.7** ([16], [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function. The hyper-order of f is defined by

$$\rho_2(f) \coloneqq \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log \log T(r, f)}{\log r}$$

and if f is entire, then

$$\rho_2(f) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log \log T(r, f)}{\log r} = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log \log \log M(r, f)}{\log r}.$$

**Remark 1.1** *If*  $\rho(f) < +\infty$ , *then*  $\rho_2(f) = 0$ .

### 4.3 p-Iterated-order of function

In order to generalize some results on the properties of solutions of certain differential equations, we need to define the p-iterated order of a meromorphic or entire function, but first we need to define the following expressions on the exponential and its reciprocal function.

For all  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , we define  $\exp_1 r := e^r$  and  $\exp_{p+1} r := \exp(\exp_p r)$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ . And for all  $r \in (0, +\infty)$  sufficiently large  $\log_1 r := \log r$  and  $\log_{p+1} r := \log(\log_p r)$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proposition 1.4** ([4]) Let  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $x_i > 1$  and i = 1, ..., n, we have

1. 
$$\log_p\left(\sum_{i=1}^n x_i\right) \le \sum_{i=1}^n \log_p x_i + O(1),$$
  
2.  $\log_p\left(\prod_{i=1}^n x_i\right) \le \sum_{i=1}^n \log_p x_i + O(1),$ 

**Proof.** In order to prove the proposition, we use the mathematical induction.

1. For p = 1, we have  $\log\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right) \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log x_i + O(1)$ . Suppose that  $\log_p\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right) \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log_p x_i + O(1)$  is verified, and proving it For the p + 1 order. We have

$$\log_{p+1}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right) = \log\left(\log_p\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right)\right)$$
$$\leq \log\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \log_p x_i + O(1)\right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log_{p+1} x_i + O(1).$$

12

2. For p = 1, we have  $\log\left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right) \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log x_i + O(1)$ . Suppose that  $\log_p\left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i\right) \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log_p x_i + O(1)$  is verified, and proving it For the p + 1 order. We have

$$\begin{split} \log_{p+1} \left( \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i \right) &= \log \left( \log_p \left( \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i \right) \right) \\ &\leq \log \left( \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log_p x_i + \mathcal{O}(1) \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \log_{p+1} x_i + \mathcal{O}(1). \end{split}$$

**Definition 1.8** ([15],[17]) Let f be a meromorphic function. The *p*-iterated-order of f is defined by

$$\rho_p(f) := \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r, f)}{\log r},$$

and if f is entire, then

$$\rho_p(f) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r, f)}{\log r} = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} M(r, f)}{\log r}.$$

### 5 The [p,q]-order, Lower [p,q]-order and [p,q]-convergence exponent of an entire or meromorphic function

### 5.1 The [p,q]-order

**Definition 1.9** ([14], [18]) Let f be a meromorphic function. The [p,q]-order of f is defined by

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f) := \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r, f)}{\log_q r},$$

and if f is entire, then

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r, f)}{\log_q r} = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} M(r, f)}{\log_q r}.$$

**Example 1.8** Let  $f(z) = e^{e^{2z^3}}$ , we have  $\rho_{[2,1]}(f) = 3$ .

### 5.2 The Lower [p,q]-order

**Definition 1.10** [27] *Let* f *be a meromorphic function. The lower* [p,q]*-order of* f *is defined by* 

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(f) := \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p \mathcal{T}(r, f)}{\log_q r}$$

and if f is entire, then

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(f) = \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r, f)}{\log_q r} = \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} M(r, f)}{\log_q r}.$$

**Remark 1.2** For p = q = 1 in Definition 1.10, we obtain the definition of lower order of f. For p = 2, q = 1 in Definition 1.10, we obtain the definition of lower hyper order of f.

### 5.3 The [p,q]-convergence exponent

**Definition 1.11** ([18], [19]) Let f be a meromorphic function. The [p,q]-convergence exponent of the sequence of a-points of f is defined by

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f-a) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,a) := \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p N\left(r, \frac{1}{f-a}\right)}{\log_q r}.$$

If a = 0, then the [p,q]-convergence exponent of the zero-sequence of f is defined by

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f) := \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p N\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q r}.$$

If  $a = \infty$ , then the [p,q]-convergence exponent of the pole-sequence of f is defined by

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f}\right) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p N(r, f)}{\log_q r}.$$

*Similarly, the [p,q]-convergence exponent of the distinct zero-sequence of f is defined by* 

$$\overline{\lambda}_{[p,q]}(f) := \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p \overline{N}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q r},$$

and the [p,q]-convergence exponent of the distinct pole-sequence of f is defined by

$$\overline{\lambda}_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f}\right) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p \overline{N}(r, f)}{\log_q r}.$$

**Remark 1.3** For p = q = 1 in Definition 1.11, we obtain the definition of convergence exponent of f.

For p = 2, q = 1 in Definition 1.11, we obtain the definition of hyper convergence exponent of f.

For q = 1 in Definition 1.11, we obtain the definition of p-iterative convergence exponent of f.

# **5.4** $[p,q] - \phi$ order and $[p,q] - \phi$ lower order of meromorphic functions and entire functions

**Definition 1.12** ([24])Let  $\varphi$ :  $[0, +\infty) \rightarrow (0, +\infty)$  be a non-decreasing unbounded function, and p, q be positive integers satisfying  $p \ge q \ge 1$ . Then, the  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order and  $[p,q] - \varphi$ lower order of meromorphic function f are respectively defined by

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r,f)}{\log_q \varphi(r)},$$
$$\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r,f)}{\log_q \varphi(r)}.$$

**Definition 1.13** ([24]) Let f be a meromorphic function. Then, the  $[p,q] - \varphi$  exponent of convergence of zero-sequence (distinct zero-sequence) of f is defined by

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p n\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q \varphi(r)},$$
$$\overline{\lambda}_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p \overline{n}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q \varphi(r)}.$$

**Remark 1.4** ([24]) If  $\varphi(r) = r$  in the Definitions 1.12 and 1.13 then we will get the standard definitions of the [p,q] – order and [p,q] – exponent of convergence.

**Remark 1.5** ([24]) Throughout this manuscript, we assume that  $\varphi : [0, +\infty) \rightarrow (0, +\infty)$  is non-decreasing unbounded function and always satisfies the following two conditions:

1. 
$$\lim_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} r}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = 0.$$
  
2. 
$$\lim_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_q \varphi(\alpha_1 r)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = 1 \text{ for some } \alpha_1 > 1.$$

By using Remark 1.5, we are able to obtain the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.5** ([5]) Assume that  $\varphi$  satisfies conditions 1 - 2 of Remark 1.5. 1. If f is a meromorphic function, then

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p n\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p N\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q \varphi(r)},$$
$$\overline{\lambda}_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p \overline{n}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p \overline{N}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_q \varphi(r)}.$$

2. 1. If f is an entire function, then

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r,f)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} M(r,f)}{\log_q \varphi(r)},$$
$$\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p T(r,f)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} M(r,f)}{\log_q \varphi(r)}.$$

**Example 1.9** Let  $\varphi(r) = \log_2 r$ , and  $f(z) = e^{e^z}$ . For p = 4, and q = 1 we have

$$\rho_{[4,1]}(f,\varphi) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{4+1} M(r,f)}{\log \varphi(r)}$$
$$= \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_5 e^{e^r}}{\log \log_2 r}$$
$$= 1.$$

### 6 Results from function theory

### 6.1 Hadamard factorization theorem

**Definition 1.14** (*Canonical product*)([7], [17]) Let f be a transcendental meromorphic function such that  $z_1, z_2, ...$  denotes its zeros with  $0 < |z_1| \le |z_2| \le ...$  Let p be the smallest integer

such that the series 
$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{|z_n|^{p+1}} \text{ converges. We call}$$
$$E(u,0) = (1-u),$$
$$E(u,p) = (1-u) \exp\left(u + \frac{u^2}{2} + \dots + \frac{u^p}{p}\right) \quad p = 1,2,\dots$$

principal factors. the infinite product

$$\mathbf{P}(z) = \prod_{n=1}^{+\infty} \mathbf{E}\left(\frac{z}{z_n}, p\right)$$

converges uniformly in each bounded domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  and P(z) is called the canonical product of f formed by the zeros of f. The integer p is called the genus of the canonical product.

**Theorem 1.6** ([7], [17]) Let f be a meromorphic function of a finite order  $\rho(f)$  and let  $a_1, a_2, ...$ and  $b_1, b_2, ...$  the zeros and the poles of f in  $\mathbb{C} \setminus 0$ , respectively. Suppose that f can be represented as

$$f(z) = c_k z^k + c_{k+1} z^{k+1} + \dots, (c_k \neq 0),$$

in the neighborhood of z = 0. Then

$$f(z) = z^k e^{Q(z)} \frac{P_1(z)}{P_2(z)},$$

such that Q(z) is a polynomial with degree less or equal to  $\rho(f)$  and  $P_1(z)$  and  $P_2(z)$  are the canonical products of f formed by its zeros and poles of f.

### 7 Some elements of Wiman-Valiron theory

**Definition 1.15** ([10], [25], [26]) Let  $f(z) = \sum_{n\geq 0} a_n z^n$  be an entire function. We define the maximal term of f by

$$\mu(r,f) = \max_{n \ge 0} |a_n| r^n$$

and we define the central index of f by

$$\mathbf{v}_r(f) = \max\{m : \mu(r, f) = |a_m|r^m\}.$$

**Example 1.10** Let  $P(z) = a_n z^n + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + \ldots + a_0$ . For sufficiently large r, we have

$$\mu(r, f) = \max_{n \ge 0} |a_n| r^n = |a_n| r^n$$

Hence

$$v_r(f) = n$$

### 8 Measure and density of sets

**Definition 1.16** *(Linear measure)* ([15], [16]) *The linear measure of a set*  $G \subset [0, +\infty)$  *is given by* 

$$m(\mathbf{G}) = \int_{\mathbf{G}} dt.$$

**Example 1.11** *Let*  $G = [0, \pi] \cup [5, 9]$ *, we have* 

$$m(G) = \int_G dt = \int_{[0,\pi] \cup [5,9]} dt = 4 + \pi.$$

**Definition 1.17** *(Logarithmic measure)* ([15], [16]) *The logarithmic measure of a set*  $G \subset [1, +\infty)$  *is given by* 

$$m_l(G) = \int_G \frac{dt}{t}$$

**Example 1.12** Let  $G = [1, e^5]$ , we have

$$m_l(G) = \int_G \frac{dt}{t} = \int_{[1,e^5]} \frac{dt}{t} = 5.$$

**Definition 1.18** (*Upper density*)([15], [16]) The upper density of a set  $G \subset [0, +\infty)$  is given by

$$\overline{dens}(G) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{m(G \cap [0, r])}{r}.$$

**Example 1.13** Let  $G = [0, +\infty)$ , we have

$$\overline{dens}(G) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{m(G \cap [0, r])}{r}$$
$$= \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{m([0, r])}{r}$$
$$= 1.$$

**Definition 1.19** *(Upper logarithmic density)* ([15], [16]) *The upper logarithmic density of*  $a \text{ set } G \subset [1, +\infty)$  *is given by* 

$$\overline{\log dens}(G) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{m_l (G \cap [1, r])}{\log r}$$

**Example 1.14** Let  $G = [1, +\infty)$ , we have

$$\overline{\log dens}(G) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{m_l (G \cap [1, r])}{\log r}$$
$$= \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{m_l ([1, r])}{\log r}$$
$$= 1.$$

## **Chapter 2**

## **Auxiliary lemmas**

**Introduction** In this chapter, we will demonstrate some auxiliary lemmas that we will need in the proof of our results.

**Proposition 2.1** ([2]) For all  $G \subset [1, +\infty)$  the following statements hold:

- 1. If  $m_l(G) = +\infty$ , then  $m(G) = +\infty$ ,
- 2. If  $\overline{dens}(G) > 0$ , then  $m(G) = +\infty$ ,
- 3. If  $\overline{\log dens}(G) > 0$ , then  $m_l(G) = +\infty$ .

**Lemma 2.1** ([8]) Let f be a transcendental meromorphic function in the plane, and let  $\alpha > 1$  be a given constant. Then there exist a set  $E_1 \subset (1, +\infty)$  that has a finite logarithmic measure, and a constant B > 0 depending only on  $\alpha$  and (*i*,*j*) ((*i*,*j*) positive integers with i > j) such that for all z with  $|z| = r \notin [0, 1] \cup E_1$ , we have

$$\left|\frac{f^{(i)}(z)}{f^{(j)}(z)}\right| \le B\left(\frac{T(\alpha r, f)}{r}(\log^{\alpha} r)\log T(\alpha r, f)\right)^{i-j}.$$

**Lemma 2.2** (*Wiman-Valiron,* [10],[25]) Let f be a transcendental entire function, and let z be a point with |z| = r at which |f(z)| = M(r, f). Then the estimation

$$\frac{f^{(j)}(z)}{f(z)} = \left(\frac{v_f(r)}{z}\right)^j (1+o(1)) (j \ge 1 \text{ is an integer})$$

holds for all |z| outside a set  $E_2$  of r of finite logarithmic measure, where  $v_f(r)$  is the central index of f.

Let *p*, *q* be positive integers and satisfy  $p \ge q \ge 1$ .

**Lemma 2.3** ([27]) Let f be an entire function of  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order and let  $v_f(r)$  be the central index of f. Then

$$\limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p v_f(r)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi), \quad \liminf_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_p v_f(r)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$$

**Lemma 2.4** ([24]) Let f and g be non-constant meromorphic functions of  $[p,q] - \phi$  order. Then we have

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f+g,\varphi) \le \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi),\rho_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi)\right\}$$

and

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(fg,\varphi) \le \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi)\right\}.$$

*Furthermore, if*  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) > \rho_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi)$ , *then we obtain* 

 $\rho_{[p,q]}(f+g,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(fg,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi).$ 

**Lemma 2.5** ([5]) Let  $p \ge q \ge 1$  be integers, and let f and g be non-constant meromorphic functions  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)$  as  $[p,q] - \phi$  order and  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi)$  as lower  $[p,q] - \phi$  order. Then we have

 $\mu_{[p,q]}(f+g,\phi) \le \max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi), \mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi)\}$ 

and

 $\mu_{[p,q]}(fg,\varphi) \le \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi), \mu_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi)\right\}.$ 

*Furthermore, if*  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) > \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)$ , then we obtain

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(f + g, \varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f g, \varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi).$$

**Lemma 2.6** ([18]) Let f be a meromorphic function of  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order. Then  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f', \varphi)$ .

**Lemma 2.7** ([17]) Let  $\varphi : [0, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $\psi : [0, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  be monotone non-decreasing functions such that  $\varphi(r) \le \psi(r)$  for all  $r \notin (E_3 \cup [0, 1])$ , where  $E_3$  is a set of finite logarithmic measure. Let  $\alpha_2 > 1$  be a given constant. Then, there exists an  $r_1 = r_1(\alpha_2) > 0$  such that  $\varphi(r) \le \psi(\alpha_2 r)$  for all  $r > r_1$ .

**Lemma 2.8** ([9]) Let f be a meromorphic function and let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then,

$$m\left(r, \frac{f^{(k)}}{f}\right) = O\left(\log\left(rT\left(r, f\right)\right)\right)$$

outside a set  $E_4 \subset (0, +\infty)$  with a finite linear measure, and if f is of finite order of growth, then

$$m\left(r, \frac{f^{(k)}}{f}\right) = O\left(\log r\right).$$

**Lemma 2.9** ([5]) Let  $f_1, f_2$  be a meromorphic functions of  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order satisfying  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f_1, \varphi) > \rho_{[p,q]}(f_2, \varphi)$ , where  $\varphi$  only satisfies  $\lim_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_q \varphi(\alpha_1 r)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} = 1$  for some  $\alpha_1 > 1$ . Then there exists a set  $E_5 \subset [1, +\infty)$  having infinite logarithmic measure such that for all  $r \in E_5$  we have

$$\lim_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\mathrm{T}(r, f_2)}{\mathrm{T}(r, f_1)} = 0.$$

**Lemma 2.10** [23] Let  $f(z) = \frac{g(z)}{d(z)}$  be a meromorphic function, where g(z), d(z) are entire functions satisfying  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \mu \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) \leq +\infty$  and  $\lambda_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(\frac{1}{f}, \varphi) < \mu$ . Then there exists a set  $E_6 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of finite logarithmic measure such that for all  $|z| = r \notin ([0,1] \cup E_6)$  and |g(z)| = M(r,g), we have

$$\frac{f^{(n)}(z)}{f(z)} = \left(\frac{\mathbf{v}_g(r)}{z}\right)^n (1+o(1)), n \in \mathbb{N},$$

where  $v_g(r)$  denote the central index of g.

Proof. We use the mathematical induction in order to obtain the following expression

$$f^{(n)} = \frac{g^{(n)}}{d} + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{g^{(j)}}{d} \sum_{(j_1 \dots j_n)} C_{j \, j_1 \dots j_n} \left(\frac{d'}{d}\right)^{j_1} \times \dots \times \left(\frac{d^{(n)}}{d}\right)^{j_n},\tag{2.1}$$

where  $C_{jj_1...j_n}$  are constants and  $j + j_1 + 2j_2 + ... + nj_n = n$ . Then

$$\frac{f^{(n)}}{f} = \frac{g^{(n)}}{g} + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{g^{(j)}}{g} \sum_{(j_1 \dots j_n)} C_{j j_1 \dots j_n} \left(\frac{d'}{d}\right)^{j_1} \times \dots \times \left(\frac{d^{(n)}}{d}\right)^{j_n}.$$
(2.2)

By Lemma 2.2, we can find a set  $E_2 \subset (1, +\infty)$  with finite logarithmic measure such that for all *z* satisfying  $|z| = r \notin E_2$  and |g(z)| = M(r, g), we get

$$\frac{g^{(j)}(z)}{g(z)} = \left(\frac{v_g(r)}{z}\right)^j (1+o(1))(j=1,2,\dots,n),$$
(2.3)

where  $v_g(r)$  is the central index of g. By replacing (2.3) into (2.2) we have

$$\frac{f^{(n)}(z)}{f(z)} = \left(\frac{v_g(r)}{z}\right)^n \left[ (1+o(1)) + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \left(\frac{v_g(r)}{z}\right)^{j-n} (1+o(1)) \sum_{(j_1\dots j_n)} C_{jj_1\dots j_n} \left(\frac{d'}{d}\right)^{j_1} \times \dots \times \left(\frac{d^{(n)}}{d}\right)^{j_n} \right]$$
(2.4)

From the fact that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) = \beta < \mu$ , we obtain for all  $\epsilon(0 < 2\epsilon < \mu - \beta)$  and sufficiently large *r* 

$$T(r, d) \le \exp_p\left\{\left(\beta + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\right)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\}.$$

From Lemma 2.1, for some  $\alpha_1(0 < \alpha_1 < \alpha)$  with  $\alpha$  be a given constant, there exist a set  $E_1 \subset (1, +\infty)$  with  $m_l(E_1) < +\infty$  and a constant B > 0 so that for all z verifying  $|z| = r \notin [0, 1] \cup E_1$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{d^{(m)}(z)}{d(z)} \right| &\leq B \left[ T(\alpha_1 r, d) \right]^{m+1} \\ &\leq B \left[ \exp_p \left\{ \left( \beta + \frac{\epsilon}{2} \right) \log_q \varphi(\alpha_1 r) \right\} \right]^{m+1} \\ &= B \left[ \exp_p \left\{ \left( \beta + \frac{\epsilon}{2} \right) \frac{\log_q \varphi(\alpha_1 r)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} \log_q \varphi(r) \right\} \right]^{m+1}. \end{aligned}$$
(2.5)

By remark 1.5, we obtain

$$\left|\frac{d^{(m)}(z)}{d(z)}\right| \le \exp_p\left\{\left(\beta + \epsilon\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}^m, m = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(2.6)

By using Lemma 2.3 and  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \mu$ , as a result we have

$$v_g(r) > \exp_p \left\{ (\mu - \epsilon) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\}$$

for sufficiently large r. Since  $j_1 + 2j_2 + \ldots + nj_n = n - j$ , we get

$$\left| \left( \frac{\nu_g(r)}{z} \right)^{j-n} \left( \frac{d'}{d} \right)^{j_1} \times \ldots \times \left( \frac{d^{(n)}}{d} \right)^{j_n} \right| \leq \left[ \frac{\exp_p \left\{ (\mu - \epsilon) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\}}{r} \right]^{j-n} \\ \times \left[ \exp_p \left\{ (\beta + \epsilon) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\} \right]^{n-j} \\ \leq \left[ \frac{r \exp_p \{ (\beta + \epsilon) \log_q \varphi(r) \}}{r \exp_p \{ (\mu - \epsilon) \log_q \varphi(r) \}} \right]^{n-j} \to 0, \quad (2.7)$$

as  $r \to +\infty$ , where  $|z| = r \notin [0,1] \cup E_6$ ,  $E_6 = E_1 \cup E_2$  and |g(z)| = M(r,g). Using (2.4) and (2.7), we obtain our assertion.

**Lemma 2.11** [23] Let  $f(z) = \frac{g(z)}{d(z)}$  be a meromorphic function, where g(z), d(z) are entire functions satisfying  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \mu \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) \leq +\infty$  and  $\lambda_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(\frac{1}{f}, \varphi) < \mu$ . Then there exists a set  $E_7 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of finite logarithmic measure such that for all  $|z| = r \notin ([0,1] \cup E_7)$  and |g(z)| = M(r,g), we have

$$\left|\frac{f(z)}{f^{(s)}(z)}\right| \le r^{2s}, (s \in \mathbb{N})$$

**Proof.** From Lemma 2.10 we can find a set  $E_6$  of finite logarithmic measure such that the estimation

$$\frac{f^{(s)}(z)}{f(z)} = \left(\frac{v_g(r)}{z}\right)^s (1+o(1)) \quad (s \ge 1 \text{ is an integer})$$
(2.8)

is verified for all  $|z| = r \notin ([0, 1] \cup E_6)$  and |g(z)| = M(r, g), where  $v_g(r)$  is the central index of *g*. Then again, from Lemma 2.3, for any given  $\varepsilon(0 < \varepsilon < 1)$ , we can find R > 1 such that for all r > R, we have

$$v_g(r) > \exp_p\{(\mu - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r)\}.$$
(2.9)

If  $\mu = +\infty$ , then we can replace  $\mu - \varepsilon$  by a large enough real number M. Let  $E_7 = [1, R] \cup E_6$ , then  $m_l(E_7) < +\infty$ . Finally, by (2.8) and (2.9) we get

$$\left|\frac{f(z)}{f^{(s)}(z)}\right| = \left|\frac{z}{v_g(r)}\right|^s \frac{1}{|1+o(1)|} \le \frac{r^s}{\left(\exp_p\{(\mu-\varepsilon)\log\varphi(r)\}\right)^s} \le r^{2s}$$
(2.10)

where  $|z| = r \notin [0,1] \cup E_7$ ,  $r \to +\infty$  and |g(z)| = M(r,g).

**Lemma 2.12** [23] Let f be an entire function such that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \phi) < +\infty$ . Then there exists entire functions  $\beta_2(z)$  and D(z) such that

$$f(z) = \beta_2(z)e^{D(z)}$$
$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \max \left\{ \rho_{[p,q]}(\beta_2,\varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}(e^{D(z)},\varphi) \right\}$$

and

$$\rho_{[p,q]}\left(\beta_{2},\varphi\right) = \limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p} N\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right)}{\log_{q} \varphi(r)}.$$

Moreover, for any given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\left|\beta_{2}(z)\right| \geq \exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}\left(\beta_{2},\varphi\right)+\varepsilon\right)\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \quad (r \notin \mathcal{E}_{8}),$$

where  $E_8 \subset (1, +\infty)$  is a set of r finite linear measure.

**Proof.** Using Theorem 12.4 in [13] and Theorem 2.2 in [11], we obtain that f(z) can be written as

$$f(z) = \beta_2(z) e^{D(z)},$$

such that

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(\beta_2,\varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}\left(e^{\mathcal{D}(z)},\varphi\right)\right\}$$

On the other hand, by a similar proof in Proposition 6.1 in [12], for any given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we obtain

$$|\beta_2(z)| \ge \exp\left\{-\exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(\beta_2, \varphi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \quad (r \notin E_8),$$

where  $E_8 \subset (1, +\infty)$  is a set of r of finite linear measure.

**Lemma 2.13** [23] Suppose that f is a meromorphic function such that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) < +\infty$ . then, there exists entire functions  $h_1(z)$ ,  $h_2(z)$  and L(z) such that

$$f(z) = \frac{h_1(z)e^{\mathcal{L}(z)}}{h_2(z)}$$
(2.11)

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(h_1,\phi), \rho_{[p,q]}(h_2,\phi), \rho_{[p,q]}(e^{L(z)},\phi)\right\}.$$
(2.12)

*Moreover, for any given*  $\varepsilon > 0$ *, we have* 

$$\exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)+\varepsilon)\log\varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \le |f(z)|$$
  
$$\le \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)+\varepsilon)\log\varphi(r)\right\} \quad (r \notin E_{9})$$
(2.13)

*Where*  $E_9 \subset (1, +\infty)$  *is a set of r of finite linear measure.* 

**Proof.** By Hadamard factorization theorem, *f* can be written as  $f(z) = \frac{g(z)}{d(z)}$ , where g(z) and d(z) are entire functions satisfying

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \mu \le \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) < +\infty$$

and

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu$$

Using Lemma 2.12, we can find entire functions h(z) and L(z) such that

$$g(z) = h(z)e^{L(z)}, \quad \rho_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) = \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(h,\phi),\rho_{[p,q]}(e^{L(z)},\phi)\right\}.$$

Then there exists functions h(z), L(z) and d(z) such that

$$f(z) = \frac{h(z)e^{\mathcal{L}(z)}}{d(z)}$$

and

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(h,\varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}\left(e^{\mathrm{L}(z)},\varphi\right)\right\}$$

Therefore (2.11) and (2.12) hold. By setting  $f(z) = \frac{h_1(z)e^{L(z)}}{h_2(z)}$ , where  $h_1(z), h_2(z)$  are the canonical products formed with the zeros and poles of *f* respectively. By using the definition of  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order, for sufficiently large *r* and any given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} |h_1(z)| &\leq \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left(\rho_{[p,q]}(h_1, \varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\} \\ |h_2(z)| &\leq \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left(\rho_{[p,q]}(h_2, \varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(2.14)

From max  $\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(h_1,\phi),\rho_{[p,q]}(h_2,\phi),\rho_{[p,q]}(e^{L(z)},\phi)\right\} = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)$  we get

$$|h_1(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\}$$
(2.15)

$$|h_2(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\},\tag{2.16}$$

$$\left|e^{\mathcal{L}(z)}\right| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}.$$
(2.17)

Through the use of Lemma 2.12, we can find a set  $E_9 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of *r* with a finite linear measure such that for any given  $\varepsilon > 0$  we have that

$$|h_{1}(z)| \geq \exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(h_{1}, \varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}\right\}$$
  
$$\geq \exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}\right\}, \quad (r \notin E_{9}), \qquad (2.18)$$

$$|h_{2}(z)| \geq \exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(h_{2},\phi)+\frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_{q}\phi(r)\right\}\right\}$$
  
$$\geq \exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)+\frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_{q}\phi(r)\right\}\right\}, \quad (r \notin E_{9}).$$
(2.19)

By (2.15), (2.17) and (2.19), for sufficiently large  $r \notin E_9$  and any given  $\epsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\begin{split} |f(z)| &= \frac{|h_1(z)||e^{\mathcal{L}(z)}|}{|h_2(z)|} \\ &\leq \frac{\exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}}{\exp\left\{-\exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\}} \\ &\leq \exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}. \end{split}$$

On the other side, we know that  $\rho_{[p-1,q]}(L, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(e^{L}, \varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ , and  $e^{|L(z)|} \ge e^{-|L(z)|}$ . From the definition of  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order, we get

$$\begin{split} |\mathrm{L}(z)| &\leq \mathrm{M}(r,\mathrm{L}) \\ &\leq \mathrm{exp}_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p-1,q]}(\mathrm{L},\phi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q \phi(r)\right\} \\ &\leq \mathrm{exp}_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q \phi(r)\right\}. \end{split}$$

Then, for any given  $\varepsilon > 0$  and sufficiently large *r*, we have

$$|e^{\mathcal{L}(z)}| \ge e^{-|\mathcal{L}(z)|} \ge \exp\left\{-\exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\phi(r)\right\}\right\}.$$
(2.20)

By making use of (2.16), (2.18) and (2.20), we can get

. . .

$$\begin{split} |f(z)| &= \frac{|h_1(z)||e^{\mathcal{L}(z)}|}{|h_2(z)|} \\ &\geq \frac{\exp\left\{-\exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\}\exp\left\{-\exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\}}{\exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}} \\ &= \exp\left\{-3\exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \frac{\varepsilon}{3}\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \\ &\geq \exp\left\{-\exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\}. \end{split}$$

Finally Lemma 2.13 is proved. ■

**Lemma 2.14** [23] Let  $G \subset (1, +\infty)$  be a set with a positive upper logarithmic density, and let  $A_i(z)$  (i = 0, 1, ..., k) with  $A_k(z) \neq 0$  and F(z) (F(z) = 0 or  $F(z) \neq 0$  be meromorphic functions with finite  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order and f is a solution of equation

$$A_k(z)f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z)f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_1(z)f' + A_0(z)f = F(z).$$
(2.21)

If there exist a positive constant  $\sigma > 0$  and an integer  $s, 0 \le s \le k$ , such that for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$|\mathbf{A}_{s}(z)| \ge \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}$$

as  $|z| = r \in G$ ,  $r \to \infty$  and  $\max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi) (j \neq s), \rho_{[p,q]}(F, \varphi)\} < \sigma$ , then we have

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_s, \varphi) = \delta \ge \sigma$$

**Proof.** By using the proof by contradiction, we assume that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \phi) = \delta < \sigma$ . From the hypotheses of Lemma 2.14, we can find a positive constant  $\sigma > 0$  such that for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$|\mathbf{A}_{s}(z)| \ge \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma - \varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}$$
(2.22)

for  $|z| = r \in G$ ,  $r \to +\infty$ , where  $G \subset (1, +\infty)$  is a set that has a positive upper logarithmic density (by Proposition 2.1, we have  $m_l(G) = +\infty$ ). By Lemma 2.13, there exists a set  $E_9 \subset (1, +\infty)$  with finite linear measure such that for  $|z| = r \notin E_9$ , we have for any given  $\varepsilon(0 < 2\varepsilon < \sigma - \delta)$ 

$$|\mathbf{A}_{s}(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{ (\delta + \varepsilon) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\}.$$
(2.23)

Using (2.22) and (2.24), we get as  $|z| = r \in G \setminus E_9, r \to +\infty$ 

$$\exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} \le |A_{s}(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\delta+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}.$$

Hence

$$\sigma - \varepsilon \le \delta + \varepsilon$$

which is a contradiction with the fact that  $0 < 2\varepsilon < \sigma - \delta$ . Then  $\rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \phi) = \delta \ge \sigma$ .

**Lemma 2.15** [23] Let  $f(z) = \frac{g(z)}{d(z)}$  be a meromorphic function, where g(z), d(z) are entire functions. If  $0 \le \rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ , then  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$  and  $\rho_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . Moreover, if  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = +\infty$ , then  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(g, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi)$ .

**Proof. Case 1.**  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \phi) < +\infty$ . Using the definition of the  $[p,q] - \phi$  order, we can find an increasing sequence  $\{r_n\}, (r_n \to +\infty)$  and a positive integer  $n_0$  such that for all  $n > n_0$  and for any given  $\varepsilon \in \left(0, \frac{\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) - \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\phi)}{2}\right)$  (because  $0 \le \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\phi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)$ ), we obtain

$$T(r_n, f) \ge \exp_p \left\{ (\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r_n) \right\},$$
(2.24)

and

$$\Gamma(r_n, d) \le \exp_p \left\{ (\rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) + \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r_n) \right\}.$$
(2.25)

Using the properties of the characteristic function we get

$$T(r, f) \le T(r, g) + T(r, d) + O(1).$$
 (2.26)

By substituting (2.24), (2.25) in (2.26), for all sufficiently large *n*, we obtain

$$\exp_{p} \left\{ (\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) - \varepsilon) \log_{q} \varphi(r_{n}) \right\} \leq T(r_{n},g)$$
  
 
$$+ \exp_{p} \left\{ (\rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) + \varepsilon) \log_{q} \varphi(r_{n}) \right\} + O(1).$$
 (2.27)

Using the fact that  $\varepsilon \in \left(0, \frac{\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) - \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\phi)}{2}\right)$ , then (2.27) will be

$$(1 - o(1)) \exp_p \left\{ (\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r_n) \right\} \le \mathcal{T}(r_n, g) + \mathcal{O}(1),$$

for all sufficiently large n. Then

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(g,\phi).$$
(2.28)

From the other side, we have

$$\Gamma(r,g) \le \mathrm{T}(r,f) + \mathrm{T}(r,d),$$

and from

we get

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(d,\phi) < \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)$$

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi).$$
(2.29)

By (2.28) and (2.29), it results then that

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$$

Similarly, we will prove that  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ .

Using the definition of the lower  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order, we can find an increasing sequence  $\{r_n\}, (r_n \to +\infty)$  and a positive integer  $n_1$  such that for all  $n > n_1$  and for any given  $\varepsilon \in \left(0, \frac{\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) - \mu_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi)}{2}\right)$  (because  $0 \le \mu_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) < \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$ ), we obtain

$$T(r_n, f) \ge \exp_p \left\{ (\mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r_n) \right\},$$
(2.30)

and

$$\Gamma(r_n, d) \le \exp_p \left\{ (\mu_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) + \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r_n) \right\}.$$
(2.31)

Using the properties of the characteristic function we get

$$T(r, f) \le T(r, g) + T(r, d) + O(1),$$
 (2.32)

by substituting (2.30), (2.31) in (2.32) we obtain

$$\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) - \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r_{n})\right\} \leq T(r_{n},g) + \exp_{p}\left\{\left(\mu_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r_{n})\right\} + O(1).$$

$$(2.33)$$

Using the fact that  $\varepsilon \in \left(0, \frac{\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) - \mu_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi)}{2}\right)$ , (2.33) becomes

$$(1 - o(1)) \exp_p\left\{(\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r_n)\right\} \le \mathcal{T}(r_n,g) + \mathcal{O}(1),$$

for all sufficiently large n. Hence

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) \le \mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi).$$
(2.34)

From the other side, we have

$$T(r,g) \le T(r,f) + T(r,d),$$

and from  $\mu_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ , we get

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) \le \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi).$$
(2.35)

25

From (2.34) and (2.35), it results then that

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi).$$

**Case 2.**  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = +\infty$ . Through the absurd. We suppose that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) \neq \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . Note first that by Lemma 2.4, the inequality  $\rho_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) > \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$  is impossible. Assuming that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) < \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . Using the definition of the  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order, there exist an increasing sequence  $r_n$ ,  $(r_n \to +\infty)$  and a positive integer  $n_0$  such that for all  $n > n_0$  and for any given  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{T}(r_n,g) &\leq & \exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_q\phi(r_n)\right\},\\ \mathrm{T}(r_n,d) &\leq & \exp_p\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(d,\phi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_q\phi(r_n)\right\}. \end{split}$$

From the fact that

$$\mathbf{T}(r_n, f) \leq \mathbf{T}(r_n, g) + \mathbf{T}(r_n, d) + \mathbf{O}(1)$$

we obtain, for all sufficiently large *n*,

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi)\right\},\,$$

and this contradicts what we had assumed.

Similarly, we prove  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)$ . Note first that the inequality  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) > \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi)$  is impossible because by Lemma 2.5 we have

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(fd,\phi) \le \max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi), \mu_{[p,q]}(d,\phi)\},\$$

and the fact that  $\mu_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$  gives  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) \le \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . Assuming that  $\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . Using the definition of the lower  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order there exists an increasing sequence  $r_n$ ,  $(r_n \to +\infty)$  and a positive integer  $n'_0$  such that for all  $n > n'_0$  and for any given  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{T}(r_n,g) &\leq & \exp_p\left\{\left(\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi)+\varepsilon\right)\log_q\phi(r_n)\right\} \\ \mathrm{T}(r_n,d) &\leq & \exp_p\left\{\left(\mu_{[p,q]}(d,\phi)+\varepsilon\right)\log_q\phi(r_n)\right\}. \end{aligned}$$

From the fact that  $T(r_n, f) \le T(r_n, g) + T(r_n, d) + O(1)$  we obtain, for all sufficiently large n,

$$T(r_n, f) \le \exp_p\left\{\left(\mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r_n)\right\} + \exp_p\left\{\left(\mu_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r_n)\right\} + O(1),$$

then  $\mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) \le \max \{ \mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi), \mu_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) \}$ . This is a contradiction with our assumption.

**Case 3.**  $\mu_{[p,q]}(f, \phi) < +\infty$  and  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \phi) = +\infty$ . We can prove case 3 by using the similar

method we used to prove Cases 1 and 2.

At last, we will prove  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(g, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . We assume that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = +\infty$ . There exists an increasing sequence  $\{r_n\}, (r_n \to +\infty)$ , such that we have

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} \mathrm{T}(r_n, f)}{\log_q \varphi(r_n)}$$

Using  $\rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$  and the definitions of the  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order and the lower  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order, we obtain

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{\mathrm{T}(r_n, d)}{\mathrm{T}(r_n, f)} = 0,$$

hence

$$\mathrm{T}(r_n, d) \leq \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{T}(r_n, f).$$

Therefore, there exists a positive integer N, such that n > N

$$T(r_n, f) \le 2T(r_n, g) + O(1).$$

It results then that  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(g, \varphi)$ . By using the same arguments as in the proof of **Case 1**, from  $T(r, g) \le T(r, f) + T(r, d)$ , we can find a positive integer N, such that for all n > N

 $T(r_n, g) \leq 2T(r_n, f).$ 

Then,  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(g,\phi) \leq \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi)$ . Thus  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(g,\phi)$ .

**Lemma 2.16** [23] Let  $A_j(z)$   $(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$ ,  $A_k(z) \neq 0$ ,  $F(z) \neq 0$  be meromorphic functions and let f be a meromorphic solution of (2.21) of infinite  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order satisfying the following condition

$$b = \max \{ \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{F}, \varphi), \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{A}_j, \varphi) (j = 0, 1, \cdots, k) \} < \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi),$$

then

$$\lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi)$$

**Proof.** Assuming that *f* is a meromorphic solution of (2.21) that has infinite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order. The first thing to notice is that by definition we have

$$\overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \leq \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \leq \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi),$$

we need then to demonstrate that

$$\overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \ge \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \ge \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi)$$

We can rewrite (2.21) as

$$\frac{1}{f} = \frac{1}{F} \left( A_k(z) \frac{f^{(k)}}{f} + \dots + A_1(z) \frac{f'}{f} + A_0(z) \right).$$
(2.36)

From Lemma 2.8 and (2.36) we get for |z| = r outside a set  $E_4 \subset (0, +\infty)$  of finite linear measure

$$m\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) \leq m\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} m\left(r,\frac{f^{(j)}}{f}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} m\left(r,A_{j}\right) + O(1)$$
  
$$\leq m\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} m(r,A_{j}) + O(\log r \operatorname{T}(r,f)).$$
(2.37)

By noticing from (2.21) that if f has a zero at  $z_0$  of order  $\alpha(\alpha > k)$ , and  $A_0, A_1, \dots, A_k$  are all analytic at  $z_0$ , then F must have a zero at  $z_0$  of order at least  $\alpha - k$ , we obtain

$$n\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) \leq k\overline{n}\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) + n\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} n\left(r,A_{j}\right),$$

and

$$N\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) \le k\overline{N}\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) + N\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} N\left(r,A_{j}\right).$$
(2.38)

Combining (2.37) and (2.38) we get for sufficiently large  $r \notin E_4$ 

$$T(r, f) = T\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + O(1)$$
  

$$\leq T(r, F) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} T\left(r, A_{j}\right) + k\overline{N}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + O(\log r T(r, f)), \qquad (2.39)$$

For sufficiently large *r*, we have

$$O(\log r T(r, f)) \le \frac{1}{2} T(r, f).$$
(2.40)

From the definition of the  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order, for sufficiently large r and for any given  $\varepsilon(0 < 2\varepsilon < \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) - b)$ , we have

$$T(r, F) \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{(b+\varepsilon)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\},\tag{2.41}$$

$$T(r, A_j) \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{(b+\varepsilon)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\}, j = 0, 1, \cdots, k.$$
(2.42)

By substituting (2.40), (2.41) and (2.42) in (2.39), for all sufficiently large  $r \notin E_4$ , we obtain

$$T(r, f) \le 2k\overline{N}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + (k+2)\exp_{p+1}\left\{(b+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}.$$
(2.43)

Using Lemma 2.7, from (2.43), for any given v > 1 there exists a  $r_1 = r_1(v)$  and sufficiently large  $r > r_1$ , we get

$$T(r, f) \le 2k\overline{N}\left(\nu r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + (k+2)\exp_{p+1}\left\{(b+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(\nu r)\right\}$$

which gives

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi),$$

therefore

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi).$$

And from  $\overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi)$ , it results that

$$\overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi).$$

**Lemma 2.17** [23] Let  $G \subset (1, +\infty)$  be a set with a positive upper logarithmic density (or infinite logarithmic measure), and let  $A_j(z)(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$  with  $A_k(z) \neq 0$  and  $F(z) \neq 0$  be meromorphic functions with finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order. If there exist a positive constant  $\sigma > 0$  and an integer  $s, 0 \leq s \leq k$ , such that for sufficiently large  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have  $|A_s(z)| \geq \exp_{p+1} \left\{ (\sigma - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r) \right\}$  as  $|z| = r \in G$ ,  $r \to +\infty$  and

$$\max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{j},\boldsymbol{\varphi})(j\neq s),\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{F},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\right\} < \sigma,$$

then every transcendental meromorphic solution f of equation (2.21) satisfies  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) \ge \sigma$ .

**Proof.** Through the absurd, suppose that *f* is a transcendental meromorphic solution of equation (2.21) such that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) < \sigma$ . By (2.21), we get

$$A_{s} = \frac{F}{f^{(s)}} - \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq s}}^{k} A_{j} \frac{f^{(j)}}{f^{(s)}}.$$
(2.44)

From the hypothesis of Lemma 2.17, we have max  $\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi) (j \neq s), \rho_{[p,q]}(F, \varphi)\} < \sigma$  and our assumption  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) < \sigma$ , then we get from (2.44) by using Lemma 2.6

$$\begin{split} \rho_2 &= \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_s, \varphi) \\ &\leq \max \left\{ \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_j, \varphi) (j \neq s), \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{F}, \varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) \right\} < \sigma \end{split}$$

Using Lemma 2.13 for any given  $\varepsilon(0 < 2\varepsilon < \sigma - \rho_2)$ , we can find a set  $E_9 \subset (1, +\infty)$  that has a finite linear measure such that

$$|\mathbf{A}_{s}(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{s}, \varphi) + \varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} = \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{2} + \varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\},$$
(2.45)

holds for all *z* satisfying  $|z| = r \notin E_9$ . By the hypotheses of Lemma 2.17, there exists a set G satisfying  $\overline{\log dens}G > 0$  (or  $m_l(G) = +\infty$ ) such that

$$|\mathbf{A}_{s}(z)| \ge \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma - \varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}$$
(2.46)

holds for all *z* satisfying  $|z| = r \in G$ ,  $r \to +\infty$ . Combining (2.45) and (2.46) it results that for all *z* verifying  $|z| = r \in G \setminus E_9$ ,  $r \to +\infty$ 

$$\exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} \le |A_{s}(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{2}+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\},$$

hence

$$\sigma - \varepsilon \leq \rho_2 + \varepsilon.$$

This contradicts the fact that  $0 < 2\varepsilon < \sigma - \rho_2$ . Consequently, any transcendental meromorphic solution *f* of equation (2.21) satisfies  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) \ge \sigma$ .

**Lemma 2.18** [23] Let  $A_0, A_1, \dots, A_k \neq 0$ ,  $F \neq 0$  be finite  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order meromorphic functions. If f is a meromorphic solution of the equation (2.21) with  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = +\infty$  and  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho < +\infty$ , then

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = +\infty$$

and

$$\lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho$$

**Proof.** Assuming that *f* is a meromorphic solution of (2.21) that has infinite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order and  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) = \rho < +\infty$ . The equation (2.21) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{1}{f} = \frac{1}{F} \left( A_k(z) \frac{f^{(k)}}{f} + \dots + A_1(z) \frac{f'}{f} + A_0(z) \right).$$
(2.47)

From Lemma 2.8 and (2.47) we get for |z| = r outside a set  $E_4$  of finite linear measure and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$m\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) \leq m\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} m\left(r,\frac{f^{(j)}}{f}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} m\left(r,A_{j}\right) + O(1)$$
  
$$\leq m\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} m(r,A_{j}) + O(\log r T(r,f)). \qquad (2.48)$$

On the other, from (2.21), if *f* has a zero at  $z_0$  of order  $\alpha(\alpha > k)$ , and  $A_0, A_1, \dots, A_k$  are all analytic at  $z_0$ , then F must have a zero at  $z_0$  of order at least  $\alpha - k$ . Then

$$n\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) \le k\overline{n}\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) + n\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k}n\left(r,A_{j}\right)$$

and

$$N\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) \le k\overline{N}\left(r,\frac{1}{f}\right) + N\left(r,\frac{1}{F}\right) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} N\left(r,A_{j}\right).$$
(2.49)

By (2.48) and (2.49) we get for sufficiently large  $r \notin E_4$  and any given  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$T(r, f) = T\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + O(1)$$
  

$$\leq T(r, F) + \sum_{j=0}^{k} T\left(r, A_{j}\right) + k\overline{N}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + O(\log r T(r, f)). \qquad (2.50)$$

From the hypothesis of Lemma 2.18, we have

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) > \rho_{[p,q]}(F,\phi)$$
 and  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) > \rho_{[p,q]}(A_j,\phi), \quad j = 0, 1, ..., k.$ 

Using Lemma 2.9, we can find a set  $E_5 \subset [1, +\infty)$  having infinite logarithmic measure such that for all  $r \in E_5$  we have

$$\max\left\{\frac{\mathrm{T}(r,\mathrm{F})}{\mathrm{T}(r,f)},\frac{\mathrm{T}(r,\mathrm{A}_j)}{\mathrm{T}(r,f)},j=0,1,\ldots,k\right\}\to 0,r\to+\infty$$

hence

$$T(r,F) = o(T(r,f)), \quad T(r,A_j) = o(T(r,f)) \quad j = 0, 1, ..., k.$$
 (2.51)

Since

$$\frac{\log \mathrm{T}(r,f)}{\mathrm{T}(r,f)} \to 0 \quad \text{for} \quad r \to +\infty,$$

we have for sufficiently large r

$$\log(T(r, f)) = o(T(r, f)).$$
(2.52)

Substituting (2.51), (2.52) in (2.50) we get for  $r \in E_5 \setminus E_4$ 

$$T(r, f) \le k\overline{N}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + o(T(r, f)) + O\left(\log r\right).$$

Hence

$$(1 - o(1))\mathbf{T}(r, f) \le k\overline{\mathbf{N}}\left(r, \frac{1}{f}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\log r\right)$$
(2.53)

Therefore, by making use of Proposition 1.5, Lemma 2.7, Definition 1.12, Remark 1.5 and (2.53) we get for any *f* with  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = +\infty$  and  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) = \rho$ 

$$+\infty = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \overline{\lambda}_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi), \quad \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi)$$

Hence

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi)$$

On the other hand, we know that by definition we have

$$\lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \leq \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \leq \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi),$$

it results then

$$\lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{p}$$

**Lemma 2.19** [23] Assume that  $k \ge 2$  and  $A_0, A_1, \dots, A_k \ne 0$ , F are meromorphic functions. Let  $\rho_1 = \max \{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi)(j = 0, 1, \dots, k), \rho_{[p,q]}(F, \varphi)\} < \infty$  and let f be a meromorphic solution of infinite  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order of equation (2.21) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f}, \varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . Then,  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \le \rho_1$ .

**Proof.** We suppose that *f* is a meromorphic solution of (2.21) with infinite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order and  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}\left(f,\varphi\right)$ . By using the Hadamard factorization theorem, *f* can be written as  $f(z) = \frac{g(z)}{d(z)}$ , where g(z) and d(z) are entire functions such that

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \mu \le \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) \le +\infty,$$

and

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu.$$

By making use of Lemma 2.13, we can find a set  $E_9 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of r of finite linear measure such that for any  $\varepsilon(0 < 2\varepsilon < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) - \rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi))$  and all  $|z| = r \notin E_9$ , and by using the hypothesis, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{j}(z)| &\leq \exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathcal{A}_{j}, \varphi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} \\ &\leq \exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{1} + \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}, \quad j = 0, 1, \cdots, k-1, \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.54)$$

$$|A_{k}(z)| \geq \exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(A_{k},\phi)+\varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\phi(r)\right\}\right\}$$
  
$$\geq \exp\left\{-\exp_{p}\left\{\left(\rho_{1}+\varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\phi(r)\right\}\right\}, \qquad (2.55)$$

and

$$|\mathbf{F}(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{F}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) + \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\boldsymbol{\varphi}(r)\right\} \le \exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{1} + \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\boldsymbol{\varphi}(r)\right\}.$$
(2.56)

From the definition of the  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order, the lower  $[p,q] - \varphi$  order and (2.56) for all *z* satisfying  $|z| = r \notin E_9$  with |g(z)| = M(r,g) and any  $\varepsilon(0 < 2\varepsilon < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) - \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi))$ , we obtain

$$\left|\frac{\mathbf{F}(z)}{f(z)}\right| = \frac{|\mathbf{F}(z)|}{|g(z)|} |d(z)|$$

$$\leq \frac{\exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{[p,q]}(d,\phi) + \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\phi(r)\right\}\exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_{1} + \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\phi(r)\right\}}{\exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) - \varepsilon\right)\log_{q}\phi(r)\right\}} \quad (2.57)$$

$$\leq \exp_{p+1}\left\{\left(\rho_1 + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\}.$$
(2.58)

From Lemma 2.10, we can find a set  $E_6 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of finite logarithmic measure such that for all  $|z| = r \notin ([0, 1] \cup E_6)$  and |g(z)| = M(r, g), we have

$$\frac{f^{(j)}(z)}{f(z)} = \left(\frac{\nu_g(r)}{z}\right)^j (1+o(1)), \ j = 0, 1, \cdots, k.$$
(2.59)

By (2.21) we get

$$\left|\frac{f^{(k)}(z)}{f(z)}\right| \le \frac{1}{|A_k(z)|} \left(|A_0(z)| + \left|\frac{F(z)}{f(z)}\right| + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} |A_j(z)| \left|\frac{f^{(j)}(z)}{f(z)}\right|\right).$$
(2.60)

Replacing (2.54), (2.55), (2.57) and (2.59) in (2.60) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \frac{\mathbf{v}_g(r)}{z} \right|^k |1 + o(1)| &\leq \frac{1}{\exp\left\{ -\exp_p\left\{ \left(\rho_1 + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\} \right\}} \times \\ \left( \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left(\rho_1 + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\} + \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left(\rho_1 + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\} \left\{ 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \left| \frac{\mathbf{v}_g(r)}{z} \right|^j |1 + o(1)| \right\} \right) \\ &\leq (k+1) \frac{\left| \mathbf{v}_g(r) \right|^{k-1}}{r^{k-1}} |1 + o(1)| \exp\left\{ 2\exp_p\left\{ \left(\rho_1 + \varepsilon\right)\log_q \varphi(r)\right\} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Therefore

$$\left| v_{g}(r) \right| |1 + o(1)| \le (k+1)r |1 + o(1)| \exp\left\{ 2 \exp_{p}\left\{ \left( \rho_{1} + \varepsilon \right) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\} \right\}$$
(2.61)

holds for all *z* verifying  $|z| = r \notin ([0,1] \cup E_6 \cup E_9)$  and  $|g(z)| = M(r,g), r \to +\infty$ . From (2.61) we obtain

$$\limsup_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\log_{p+1} v_g(r)}{\log_q \varphi(r)} \le \rho_1 + \varepsilon.$$
(2.62)

Using the fact that  $\varepsilon > 0$  is arbitrary, by Lemma 2.3 and Lemma 2.7 we obtain from (2.62)

 $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(g,\varphi) \leq \rho_1.$ 

Since  $\rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) \le \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ , then by using Lemma 2.15 we get

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(g,\phi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi).$$

Hence

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \leq \rho_1.$$

### **Chapter 3**

# On the growth of solutions of LDE with meromorphic coefficients with finite $[p,q] - \varphi$ order

### 1 Introduction

In this chapter, we investigate the growth of meromorphic solutions to higher order homogeneous and non-homogeneous linear differential equations with meromorphic coefficients of finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order. We obtain some results about  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order and the  $[p, q] - \varphi$  convergence exponent of solutions for such equations. In [20], Liu, Tu and Zhang studied the growth and zeros of solutions of equations

$$f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_1f' + A_0f = 0$$
(3.1)

et

$$f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_1f' + A_0f = F(z),$$
(3.2)

where  $A_0(z) \neq 0$ ,  $A_0(z), ..., A_{k-1}(z)$  and  $F(z) \neq 0$  are entire functions of  $[p, q] - \phi$  order and they obtained the following results.

**Theorem 3.1** [20] Let  $A_i(z)$  (j = 0, 1, ..., k - 1) be entire functions satisfying

$$\max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_{j},\phi), j=1,...,k-1\} < \rho_{[p,q]}(A_{0},\phi) < \infty.$$

*Then every solution*  $f \neq 0$  *of equation* (3.1) *satisfies*  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(A_0, \phi)$ .

And they obtained the following results in the case of non-homogeneous equations.

**Theorem 3.2** [20] Let  $A_j(z)$  (j = 0, 1, ..., k - 1) and  $F(z) \neq 0$  be entire functions and let f be a solution of equation (3.2) satisfying

$$\max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi), \rho_{[p,q]}(F, \varphi) \mid j = 1, ..., k-1\} < \rho_{[p,q]}(A_0, \varphi) < \infty.$$

Then  $\overline{\lambda}_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$ .

**Theorem 3.3** [20] Let  $A_j(z)$  (j = 0, 1, ..., k - 1) and  $F(z) \neq 0$  be entire functions satisfying

$$\max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi), \rho_{[p+1,q]}(F, \varphi) | j = 1, ..., k-1\} < \rho_{[p,q]}(A_0, \varphi) < \infty$$

Then every solution  $f \neq 0$  of equation (3.2) satisfies  $\overline{\lambda}_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi$ 

After this, Saidani and Belaïdi studied some of the properties of the solution of the higher order linear differential equation

$$A_k f^{(k)} + A_{k-1} f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_1 f' + A_0 f = 0$$
(3.3)

et

$$A_k f^{(k)} + A_{k-1} f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_1 f' + A_0 f = F(z),$$
(3.4)

and they obtained the following results.

**Theorem 3.4** [22] Let  $H 
subset (1, +\infty)$  be a set with a positive upper logarithmic density (or  $m_l(H) = +\infty$ ) and let  $A_j(z)$   $(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$  with  $A_k(z) (\neq 0)$  be meromorphic functions with finite[p, q]-order. If there exist a positive constant  $\sigma > 0$  and an integer  $s, 0 \le s \le k$ , such that for all sufficiently small  $\epsilon > 0$ , we have  $|A_s(z)| \ge \exp_{p+1} \{(\sigma - \epsilon)\log_q r\}$  as  $|z| = r \in H$ ,  $r \to +\infty$  and  $\rho = \max \{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j) \ (j \ne s)\} < \sigma$ , then every non-transcendental meromorphic solution  $f \ne 0$  of (3.3) is a polynomial with deg  $f \le s - 1$  and every transcendental meromorphic morphic solution f of (3.3) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}(\frac{1}{f}) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f)$  satisfies

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f) = +\infty,$$
  
$$\sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s).$$

**Theorem 3.5** [22] Let  $H 
subset (1, +\infty)$  be a set with a positive upper logarithmic density (or  $m_l(H) = +\infty$ ) and let  $A_j(z)$   $(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$  with  $A_k(z) (\neq 0)$  and  $F(z) (\neq 0)$  be meromorphic functions with finite[p, q]-order. If there exist a positive constant  $\sigma > 0$  and an integer  $s, 0 \le s \le k$ , such that for all sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have  $|A_s(z)| \ge \exp_{p+1} \{(\sigma - \varepsilon) \log_q r\}$  as  $|z| = r \in H, r \to +\infty$  and  $\rho = \max \{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j), \rho_{[p,q]}(F) (j \neq s)\} < \sigma$ , then every non-transcendental meromorphic solution  $f \neq 0$  of (3.4) is a polynomial with  $\deg f \le s - 1$  and every transcendental meromorphic solution f of (3.4) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}(\frac{1}{f}) < \min \{\sigma, \mu_{[p,q]}(f)\}$  satisfies

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = +\infty$$

and

$$\sigma \leq \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s).$$

So we ask: What about the growth of meromorphic solutions of equations (3.3) and (3.4) with meromorphic coefficients of finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order when the dominant fixed coefficient is the arbitrary coefficient A<sub>s</sub>?

### 2 Main results

The main purpose of this work is examine the above question. We now present our main results, so for the homogeneous differential equation (3.3), we obtain the following result.

**Theorem 3.6** [23] Let  $G \subset (1, +\infty)$  be a set with a positive upper logarithmic density (or  $m_l(G) = +\infty$ ) and let  $A_j(z)$   $(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$  with  $A_k(z) \neq 0$  be meromorphic functions with finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order. If there exists a positive constant  $\sigma > 0$  and an integer  $s, 0 \leq s \leq k$  such that for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have  $|A_s(z)| \geq \exp_{p+1} \{(\sigma - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r)\}$  as  $|z| = r \in G$ ,

 $r \to +\infty$  and  $\rho = \max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi)(j \neq s)\} < \sigma$ , then every non-transcendental meromorphic solution  $f \neq 0$  of (3.3) is a polynomial with  $\deg f \leq s - 1$  and every transcendental meromorphic solution f of (3.3) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}(\frac{1}{f}, \varphi) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$  satisfies

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = +\infty, \sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s,\varphi).$$

**Remark 3.1** Putting  $\varphi(r) = r$  in Theorem 3.6, we obtain Theorem 3.4.

**Corollary 3.1** [23] Under the hypothesis of Theorem 3.6, suppose further that  $\psi$  is a transcendental meromorphic function satisfying  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi) < \sigma$ . Then, every transcendental meromorphic solution f of equation (3.3) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$  satisfies

$$\sigma \leq \overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi)$$
$$= \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \varphi).$$

Considering non-homogeneous linear differential equation (3.4), we obtain the following results.

**Theorem 3.7** [23] Let  $G 
subset (1, +\infty)$  be a set with a positive upper logarithmic density (or  $m_l(G) = +\infty$ ) and let  $A_j(z)$   $(j = 0, 1, \dots, k)$  with  $A_k(z) \neq 0$  and  $F(z) \neq 0$  be meromorphic functions with finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order. If there exists a positive constant  $\sigma > 0$  and an integer  $s, 0 \le s \le k$  such that for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have  $|A_s(z)| \ge \exp_{p+1} \{(\sigma - \varepsilon) \log_q \varphi(r)\}$  as  $|z| = r \in G$ ,  $r \to +\infty$  and  $\rho_1 = \max \{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi) \quad (j \neq s), \rho_{[p,q]}(F, \varphi)\} < \sigma$ , then every non-transcendental meromorphic solution  $f \neq 0$  of (3.4) is a polynomial with deg  $f \le s - 1$  and every transcendental meromorphic solution f of (3.4) with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}(\frac{1}{f}, \varphi) < \min \{\sigma, \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)\}$  satisfies

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = +\infty$$

and

$$\sigma \leq \overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_{s},\varphi).$$

**Remark 3.2** Putting  $\varphi(r) = r$  in Theorem 3.7, we obtain Theorem 3.5.

**Corollary 3.2** [23] Let  $A_j(z)$  (j = 0, 1, ..., k), F(z), G satisfy all the hypothesis of Theorem 3.7, and let  $\psi$  be a transcendental meromorphic function satisfying  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi) < \sigma$ . Then, every transcendental meromorphic solution f with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$  of equation (3.4) satisfies

$$\sigma \leq \overline{\lambda}_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi)$$
$$= \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \varphi).$$

### **3** Proofs of the main results

### **3.1 Proof of Theorem 3.6**

Let  $f \neq 0$  be a rational solution of equation (3.3). At the beginning, we will prove that f must be a polynomial with deg  $f \leq s-1$ . If either f is a rational function, which has a pole

at  $z_0$  of degree  $m \ge 1$  or f is a polynomial with deg  $f \ge s$ , then  $f^{(s)}(z) \ne 0$ . From equation (3.3) we have

$$\mathbf{A}_{s}(z)f^{(s)} = -\sum_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq s}}^{k}\mathbf{A}_{j}(z)f^{(j)}.$$

By Lemma 2.4, and Lemma 2.14 we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma &\leq \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{s}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) &= \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{s}f^{(s)}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \\ &= \rho_{[p,q]}\left(-\left(\sum_{\substack{j=0\\j\neq s}}^{k} \mathbf{A}_{j}(z)f^{(j)}\right), \boldsymbol{\varphi}\right) \\ &\leq \max_{j=0,1,\cdots,k, j\neq s} \left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{j}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})\right\}, \end{aligned}$$

and this contradicts the fact that  $\rho = \max \{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi)(j \neq s)\} < \sigma$ . Hence, f must be a polynomial with deg  $f \leq s - 1$ .

Assuming now that *f* is a transcendental meromorphic solution of (3.3) that satisfies  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$ . Using Lemma 2.13, we can find a set  $E_9 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of finite linear measure (and so of finite logarithmic measure) such that for any  $\varepsilon$  ( $0 < 2\varepsilon < \sigma - \rho$ ) we have

$$|A_j(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\{\rho + \varepsilon\} \log_q \varphi(r)\} \quad j = 0, 1, \cdots, k, j \ne s$$
(3.5)

holds for all *z* verifying  $|z| = r \notin E_9$ . By making use of Lemma 2.11, we can find a set  $E_7 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of finite logarithmic measure such that for all  $|z| = r \notin ([0, 1] \cup E_7)$  and |g(z)| = M(r, g) and for sufficiently large *r* we have

$$\left|\frac{f(z)}{f^{(s)}(z)}\right| \le r^{2s}, (s \ge 1 \text{ is an integer}).$$
(3.6)

From Lemma 2.1, we can find a set  $E_1 \subset (1, +\infty)$  that has a finite logarithmic measure, and a constant B > 0 such that for all *z* verifying  $|z| = r \notin [0, 1] \cup E_1$ , we have

$$\left|\frac{f^{(j)}(z)}{f(z)}\right| \le B\left[T(2r,f)\right]^{k+1}, \quad j = 1, 2, \cdots, k, j \neq s.$$
(3.7)

According to the hypothesis of Theorem 3.6, we can find a set  $G \subset (1, +\infty)$  with a positive upper logarithmic density (or  $m_l(G) = +\infty$ ), such that for all z verifying  $|z| = r \in G$ ,  $r \to +\infty$  and sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have

$$|A_{s}(z)| \ge \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma - \varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}.$$
(3.8)

By (3.3) we have

$$|\mathbf{A}_{s}| \leq \left| \frac{f}{f^{(s)}} \right| \left( |\mathbf{A}_{0}| + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq s}}^{k} |\mathbf{A}_{j}| \left| \frac{f^{(j)}}{f} \right| \right).$$
(3.9)

Replacing (3.5), (3.6), (3.7) and (3.8) in (3.9) we get for all *z* verifying  $|z| = r \in G \setminus ([0, 1] \cup E_1 \cup E_7 \cup E_9), r \to +\infty$ 

$$\exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} \leq Bkr^{2s}\exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\}\left[T(2r,f)\right]^{k+1}.$$

From  $0 < 2\varepsilon < \sigma - \rho$ , we obtain

$$\exp\left\{(1-o(1))\exp_p\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \le Bkr^{2s}\left[T(2r,f)\right]^{k+1}.$$
(3.10)

Using Lemma 2.7 and (3.10) for any given v > 1 there exists an  $r_1 = r_1(v)$  and sufficiently large  $r > r_1$ , we get

$$\exp\left\{(1-o(1))\exp_p\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \le \mathrm{B}k(\nu r)^{2s}\left[\mathrm{T}(2\nu r,f)\right]^{k+1}.$$

By making use of Definition 1.12 and Remark 1.5, we get

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = +\infty,$$

and

$$\sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi)$$

Therefore

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = +\infty, \quad \sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi).$$
(3.11)

From Lemma 2.14, we have

$$\max \{ \rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \phi) : j = 0, 1, \cdots, k \} = \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \phi) = \beta < +\infty.$$

Making use of Lemma 2.19, and the fact that *f* is a meromorphic solution of equation (3.3) of infinite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order such that  $\lambda_{[p,q]} \left(\frac{1}{f}, \varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi)$  leads to

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j,\varphi) : j = 0, 1, \cdots, k\} = \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s,\varphi).$$
(3.12)

Thus (3.11) and (3.12) yield  $\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = +\infty$  and  $\sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s,\phi)$ .

### 3.2 **Proof of Corollary 3.1**

Let  $\psi$  be a transcendental meromorphic function with  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi) < \sigma$ . Putting  $\eta = f - \psi$ . By Lemma 2.4, we obtain  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\eta, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . By making use of Theorem 3.6, we obtain  $\sigma \leq \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\eta, \varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \varphi)$ . Replacing  $f = \eta + \psi$  into (1.3) gives

$$A_{k}(z)\eta^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z)\eta^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z)\eta' + A_{0}(z)\eta$$
$$= -\left(A_{k}(z)\psi^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z)\psi^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z)\psi' + A_{0}(z)\psi\right) = U(z).$$
(3.13)

Since  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi) < \sigma$ , then according to Theorem 3.6, we can see that  $\psi$  is not a solution of equation (3.3), hence the right side U of equation (3.13) is non-zero. Furthermore, by Lemma 2.4, and Lemma 2.6 we get

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{U}, \varphi) \le \max \left\{ \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi), \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{A}_j, \varphi) \quad (j = 0, 1, \cdots, k) \right\} < \sigma.$$

As a consequence

$$\max\left\{\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{U},\boldsymbol{\varphi}),\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{j},\boldsymbol{\varphi})\quad (j=0,1,\cdots,k)\right\}<\sigma\leq\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\eta,\boldsymbol{\varphi}).$$

From Lemma 2.16 we get

$$\sigma \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(\eta,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(\eta,\varphi)$$
$$= \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\eta,\varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s,\varphi),$$

which gives

$$\sigma \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi)$$
$$= \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \varphi).$$

#### **3.3 Proof of Theorem 3.7**

Let  $f \neq 0$  be a rational solution of (3.4). To begin with, we will prove that f must be a polynomial with deg  $f \leq s - 1$ . If either f is a rational function, which has a pole at  $z_0$  of degree  $m \geq 1$ , or f is a polynomial with deg  $f \geq s$ , then  $f^{(s)}(z) \neq 0$ . From (3.4), we have

$$A_s(z)f^{(s)} = F - \sum_{\substack{j=0 \ j \neq s}}^k A_j(z)f^{(j)}$$

By Lemma 2.4, and Lemma 2.14, and the fact that  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f, \varphi) = 0$  (because *f* is a non-transcendental so  $T(r, f) = O(\log r)$ ) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma &\leq \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{s}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) &= \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{s}f^{(s)}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \\ &= \rho_{[p,q]}\left( \left( \mathbf{F} - \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j \neq s}}^{k} \mathbf{A}_{j}(z)f^{(j)} \right), \boldsymbol{\varphi} \right) \\ &\leq \max_{j=0,1,\cdots,k, j \neq s} \left\{ \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_{j}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}), \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{F}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \right\} \end{aligned}$$

and this contradicts the fact that  $\rho_1 = \max \{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j, \varphi) \mid (j \neq s), \rho_{[p,q]}(F, \varphi)\} < \sigma$ . Hence, f must be a polynomial with deg  $f \leq s - 1$ .

Assuming now that *f* is a transcendental meromorphic solution of (3.4) that satisfies  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$ . By Lemma 2.17 we have  $\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) \ge \sigma$ . Since  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)$ , then by Hadamard factorization theorem, there exists entire functions g(z) and d(z) such that *f* can be written as  $f(z) = \frac{g(z)}{d(z)}$ , and

$$\mu_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \mu \le \rho_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi),$$
$$\rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) = \beta < \min\left\{\sigma,\mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi)\right\}.$$

From the definition of the  $[p, q] - \varphi$ -order and the lower  $[p, q] - \varphi$ -order, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |g(z)| &= \mathrm{M}(r,g) \ge \exp_{p+1} \left\{ \left( \mu_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) - \varepsilon \right) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\}, \\ |d(z)| &\le \mathrm{M}(r,d) \le \exp_{p+1} \left\{ \left( \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi) + \varepsilon \right) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.14)

٠,

Let

 $\rho_1 = \max\left\{\rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_j, \varphi) \quad (j \neq s), \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{F}, \varphi)\right\} < \sigma.$ 

From (3.14) and Lemma 2.13, for any  $\varepsilon$  verifying

$$0 < 2\varepsilon < \min\left\{\sigma - \rho_1, \mu_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) - \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi)\right\},$$

there exists a set  $E_9 \subset (1, +\infty)$  of finite logarithmic measure such that for any given *z* verifying  $|z| = r \notin E_9$  at which |g(z)| = M(r, g), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\mathbf{F}(z)}{f(z)} \right| &= \frac{|\mathbf{F}(z)|}{|\mathbf{g}(z)|} |d(z)| \\ &\leq \frac{\exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left( \rho_{[p,q]}(d, \varphi) + \varepsilon \right) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\} \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left( \rho_{1} + \varepsilon \right) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\}}{\exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left( \mu_{[p,q]}(g, \varphi) - \varepsilon \right) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\}} \\ &\leq \exp_{p+1}\left\{ \left( \rho_{1} + \varepsilon \right) \log_{q} \varphi(r) \right\}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.15)

Using the similar way in proving Theorem 3.6, for all *z* satisfying  $|z| = r \in G \setminus ([0,1] \cup E_1 \cup E_7 \cup E_9)$ ,  $r \to +\infty$  at which |g(z)| = M(r,g), and for all  $\varepsilon \left(0 < 2\varepsilon < \min \left\{\sigma - \rho_1, \mu_{[p,q]}(g,\phi) - \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\phi)\right\}\right)$  we obtain (3.6), (3.7), (3.8) and

$$|\mathbf{A}_{j}(z)| \le \exp_{p+1}\{\rho_{1}+\varepsilon\}\log_{q}\varphi(r)\}, \quad j=0,1,\cdots, \quad k, j \ne s. \tag{3.16}$$

The equation (3.4) gives

$$|\mathbf{A}_{s}| \leq \left| \frac{f}{f^{(s)}} \right| \left( |\mathbf{A}_{0}| + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq s}}^{k} |\mathbf{A}_{j}| \left| \frac{f^{(j)}}{f} \right| + \left| \frac{\mathbf{F}}{f} \right| \right).$$
(3.17)

Replacing (3.6), (3.7), (3.8), (3.15) and (3.16) in (3.17), for all *z* such that  $|z| = r \in G \setminus ([0, 1] \cup E_1 \cup E_7 \cup E_9)$ ,  $r \to +\infty$ , at which |g(z)| = M(r, g), and for all  $\varepsilon$  satisfying

$$0 < 2\varepsilon < \min\left\{\sigma - \rho_1, \mu_{[p,q]}(g,\varphi) - \rho_{[p,q]}(d,\varphi)\right\},\$$

we get

$$\begin{split} \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} &\leq r^{2s}(\exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{1}+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq s}}^{k}\exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{1}+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} B\left[T(2r,f)\right]^{k+1}\right) \\ &+ \exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{1}+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} \\ &\leq B(k+1)r^{2s}\exp_{p+1}\left\{(\rho_{1}+\varepsilon)\log_{q}\varphi(r)\right\} \left[T(2r,f)\right]^{k+1}. \end{split}$$

$$(3.18)$$

The fact that  $0 < 2\varepsilon < \sigma - \rho_1$  gives

$$\exp\left\{(1-o(1))\exp_p\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \le B(k+1)r^{2s}\left[T(2r,f)\right]^{k+1}.$$
(3.19)

Using Lemma 2.7 with equation (3.19) for any given v > 1 there exists an  $r_2 = r_2(v)$  and sufficiently large  $r > r_2$ , we get

$$\exp\left\{(1-o(1))\exp_p\left\{(\sigma-\varepsilon)\log_q\varphi(r)\right\}\right\} \le B(k+1)(\nu r)^{2s}\left[T(2\nu r,f)\right]^{k+1}.$$
(3.20)

By making use of Definition 1.12 and Remark 1.5, we get

$$\rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = +\infty, \quad \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) \ge \sigma.$$
(3.21)

According to Lemma 2.14, and the hypothesis of Theorem 3.7 we get

$$\max \left\{ \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_j, \varphi) \quad (j = 0, 1, \dots, k), \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{F}, \varphi) \right\} = \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_s, \varphi) = \beta < +\infty.$$

Using Lemma 2.19, and the fact that *f* is a meromorphic solution of (1.4) of  $[p,q]-\varphi$ -order with  $\lambda_{[p,q]}\left(\frac{1}{f},\varphi\right) < \mu_{[p,q]}\left(f,\varphi\right)$ , we obtain

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \le \max\{\rho_{[p,q]}(A_j,\varphi) \quad (j=0,1,\dots,k), \rho_{[p,q]}(F,\varphi)\} = \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s,\varphi).$$
(3.22)

From Lemma 2.18, and since  $F \neq 0$ , we obtain

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\phi) = +\infty$$
(3.23)

39

and

$$\sigma \le \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi).$$
(3.24)

It results from (3.22), (3.23), and (3.24) that

$$\lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \mu_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p,q]}(f,\varphi) = +\infty$$

and

$$\sigma \leq \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s,\varphi).$$

### **3.4 Proof of Corollary 3.2**

Let  $\psi$  be a transcendental meromorphic function with  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi) < \sigma$ . Putting  $\vartheta = f - \psi$ . Since  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \ge \sigma$  and  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi) < \sigma$  then,  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \varphi) < \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . Hence, by Lemma 2.4 we obtain  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\vartheta, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi)$ . By making use of Theorem 3.7 we obtain  $\sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\vartheta, \varphi) \le \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \varphi)$ . Replacing  $f = \vartheta + \psi$  into (3.4) gives

$$A_{k}(z)\vartheta^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z)\vartheta^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z)\vartheta' + A_{0}(z)\vartheta$$
$$= F(z) - \left(A_{k}(z)\psi^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z)\psi^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z)\psi' + A_{0}(z)\psi\right) = V(z).$$
(3.25)

Since  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi, \phi) < \sigma$ , then according to Theorem 3.7,  $\psi$  is not a solution of equation (3.4), hence the right side V(*z*) of equation (3.25) is non-zero. Furthermore, by Lemma 2.4, and Lemma 2.6 we have

$$\rho_{[p+1,q]}(V,\phi) \leq \max \left\{ \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi,\phi), \rho_{[p+1,q]}(A_j,\phi) \quad (j=0,1,\cdots,k), \rho_{[p+1,q]}(F,\phi) \right\}$$
  
=  $\rho_{[p+1,q]}(\psi,\phi) < \sigma.$ 

As a consequence

$$\max \left\{ \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{V}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}), \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\mathbf{A}_j, \boldsymbol{\varphi}) \quad (j = 0, 1, \cdots, k) \right\} < \sigma \le \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\vartheta, \boldsymbol{\varphi}).$$

From Lemma 2.16, we get

$$\begin{split} & \sigma \leq \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(\vartheta,\phi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(\vartheta,\phi) \\ & = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(\vartheta,\phi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f,\phi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(\mathbf{A}_s,\phi), \end{split}$$

which gives

$$\sigma \leq \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \lambda_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi)$$
$$= \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f - \psi, \varphi) = \rho_{[p+1,q]}(f, \varphi) \leq \rho_{[p,q]}(A_s, \varphi).$$

The proof of the Corollary is finished.

## **Conclusion and Perspectives**

Throughout this work, by using a generalized concept of order called  $\varphi$ -order, we have discussed the possibility of extending some results about the growth of meromorphic solutions to linear differential equations of the form:

$$A_{k}(z) f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z) f' + A_{0}(z) f = 0$$
(3.26)

$$A_{k}(z) f^{(k)} + A_{k-1}(z) f^{(k-1)} + \dots + A_{1}(z) f' + A_{0}(z) f = F(z), \qquad (3.27)$$

where  $A_j$  and F are meromorphic functions of finite  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order. We have obtained the relationship between the solutions and the meromorphic coefficients in terms of  $\varphi$ -order, estimations about the  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order and the  $[p, q] - \varphi$  convergence exponent of the solutions to such equations.

Now, some open questions and problems are proposed.

**Problem 1.** Can we get the similar result using the  $(\alpha, \beta, \nu)$  -order defined in [3]? In other words what can be said about the growth of solutions of the differential equations (3.26) and (3.27) if the coefficients are meromorphic functions of  $(\alpha, \beta, \nu)$  -order?

**Problem 2.** What are the hypothesis on the dominant coefficient that guarantee that the solutions of the above equations have a finite  $(\alpha, \beta, \nu)$  -order?

## Bibliography

- [1] **B. Belaïdi**, (2017) Fonctions entières et théorie de Nevanlinna, Éditions Al Djazair. 6
- [2] **B. Belaïdi**, (2015), Iterated order of meromorphic solutions of homogeneous and nonhomogeneous linear differential equations, Romai J., v. 11, No.1, 33-46. 1, 18
- [3] **B. Belaïdi , T. Biswas**, (2023), *Growth properties of solutions of complex differential equationsi with entire coefficients of finite*  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$ *-order, Electronic Journal of Differential* Equations, No. 27, pp. 1-14. 41
- [4] M. Belmiloud, (2022), On [p,q]-Order of Growth and Fixed Points of Solutions and Their Arbitrary-order Derivatives of Linear Differential Equations in the Unit Disc, THESIS, Master of Science in Mathematics, University of Mostaganem Abdelhamid Ibn Badis (UMAB). 12
- [5] **R. Bouabdelli, B. Belaïdi**, (2014), Growth and complex oscillation of l linear differential equations with meromorphic coefficients of  $[p, q] - \varphi$  order, International Journal of Analysis ans Applications, **v. 6, No.2**, 178-194. 1, 15, 19
- [6] I. Chyzhykov, J. Heittokangas, J. Rättyä, (2009), Finiteness of φ-order of solutions of linear differential equations in the unit disc, J. Anal. Math, v. 109, 163-198.
- [7] A. A. Goldberg, I. V. Ostrovskii, (2008), *The distribution of values of meromorphic functions*, Irdat Nauk, Moscow, 1970 (in Russian), Transl. Math. Monogr., vol. 236, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence RI. 3, 9, 11, 16
- [8] G. G. Gundersen, (1988), Estimates for the logarithmic derivative of a meromorphic function, plus similar estimates. J. London Math. Soc.37, no. 1, 88-104. 18
- [9] **W. K. Hayman**, (1964) *Meromorphic functions*, Oxford Mathematical Monographs Clarendon Press, Oxford. 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 11, 19
- [10] W. K. Hayman, (1974), The local growth of power series: a survey of the Wiman-Valiron method, Canad. Math. Bull. 17, no. 3, 317–358. 16, 18
- [11] G. Jank, H. Wallner, (1977), Über das Wachstum gewisser Klassen kanonischer Produkte, Arch. Math. (Basel)28, 274-280. 21
- [12] G. Jank, L. Volkmann, (1982), Untersuchungen ganzer und meromorpher Funktionen unendlicher Ordnung, Arch. Math. (Basel)39, 32-45. 21
- [13] J. Jank, L. Volkmann, (1985), Einführung in die Theorie der ganzen und meromorphen Funktionen mit Anwendungen Auf Differentialgleichungen, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel. 21

- [14] **O. P. Juneja, G. P. Kapoor and S. K. Bajpai**, (1976), *On the* (*p*,*q*)-*order and lower* (*p*,*q*)-*order of an entire function*, J. Reine Angew. Math. **282**, 53–67. 13
- [15] L. Kinnunen, (1998), Linear differential equations with solutions of finite iterated order, Southeast Asian Bull. Math., 22, no.4, 385-405. 1, 13, 17
- [16] K. H. Kwon, (1996) On the growth of entire functions satisfying second order linear differential equations. Bull. Korean Math. Soc. 33, no. 3, 487-496. 1, 12, 17
- [17] I. Laine, (1993), Nevanlinna Theory and Complex Differential Equations. de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics, 15. Walter deGruyter and Co., Berlin. 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 16, 19
- [18] L. M. Li, T. B. Cao, (2012), Solutions for linear differential equations with meromorphic coefficients of [p,q]-order in the plane, Electron. J. Differential Equations, No. 195, 15 pp. 1, 13, 14, 19
- [19] J. Liu, J. Tu and L. Z. Shi, (2010), *Linear differential equations with entire coefficients* of [p,q]-order in the complex plane, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **372, no. 1**, 55–67. 14
- [20] G. S. Liu, J.B.Tu, H. Zhang, (2019), *The growth and Zeros of Linear Differential Equations with Entire Coefficients of*  $(p, q) - \varphi(r)$  *Order*, J. Computational Analysis and applications, **27, no. 4, copyright 2019 eudoxus press, LLC. 1**, 33
- [21] R. Nevanlinna, (1974) Eindeutige analytische Funktionen, (German) Zweite Auflage. Reprint. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 64. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York. 1
- [22] M.Saidani, B, Belaïdi, (2021), Some Properties on The (p,q)– Order of Meromorphic Solutions of Homogeneous and Non-homogeneous Linear Differential Equations With Meromorphic Coefficients, Eur. J. Math. Anal., 1, 86-105. 1, 34
- [23] **M.Saidani, F. M. Benguettat, B, Belaïdi**, (Submitted), Study of Complex Ocillation of Solutions to Higher Linear Differential Equations with Meromorphic Coefficients of Finite  $(p, q) \varphi$  Order. 2, 19, 21, 22, 23, 24, 27, 28, 29, 31, 34, 35
- [24] **X.Shen, J. Tu, H.Y. Xu,** (2014), *Complex oscillation of a second-order linear differential* equations with entire coefficients of  $[p, q] \varphi$  order, Advances in Differen Equations. 1, 14, 15, 18
- [25] **G. Valiron,** (1949), *Lectures on the General Theory of Integral Functions*, translated by E.F. Collingwood, Chelsea, New York. 16, 18
- [26] H. Wittich, (1968), Neuere Untersuchungen ber eindeutige analytishe Funktionen, 2nd Edition, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York. 1, 16
- [27] M. L. Zhan, X. M. Zheng, (2014), Solutions to linear differential equations with some coefficient being lacunary series of (p,q)-order in the complex plane, Ann. Differential Equations. 30, no. 3, 364–372. 13, 18